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mayor Sharon Gaetz has been serving the Chilliwack community 
since December 2, 1996 - first as a Councillor (12 years), and then 
since December 1, 2008 as mayor. besides being the Chief Executive 
Officer of the City of Chilliwack, Mayor Gaetz also serves her 
community by being a member of the:
 

 »  Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation (CEPCO) as Ex Officio 
 »  fraser Valley Regional District board Chair 
 »  Regional Corporate Services Committee 
 »  former Chair of the fraser Valley Regional hospital District board 
 »  Emergency Executive Committee 
 »  Union of BC Municipalities Executive (UBCM) as Director at Large 
 »  Resolutions Committee Chair of UbCm 
 »  Environment Committee member of UbCm 
 »  Director of the municipal finance authority 
 »  Chilliwack hospice Society honourary board member 
 »  honourary member of the Rotary Club of Chilliwack 
 »  honourary member of the Rotary Club of Chilliwack/fraser 
 »  honourary membership in the Royal Canadian legion branch #4 
 »  honourary president of the Chilliwack and District agricultural 

Society 

Mayor Sharon Gaetz

Councillor Chuck Stam has been serving the Chilliwack Community as a Councillor since 
December of 1999. Councillor Stam represents his community as a member of the:

 » Chilliwack aviation and aerospace 
planning Committee

 » Development process advisory 
Committee (Chair)

 » Emergency Executive Committee

 » fraser Valley Regional District board
 » fraser Valley Regional hospital board 

(Chair)
 » fraser Valley Regional library
 » Public Safety Advisory Committee (Chair)

Councillor Chuck Stam

Councillor ken popove has been serving the Chilliwack Community as a Councillor since 
December of 2011. Councillor popove represents his community as a member of the:

 » Chilliwack film Commission
 » Design Review Panel (Chair)
 » Development process advisory 

Committee (Vice Chair)
 » Downtown planning implementation 

Committee (Vice Chair)

 » fraser Valley Regional District board
 » fraser Valley Regional hospital board
 » fraser Valley Regional treaty advisory 

Committee (Alternate)
 » parcel tax Roll Review panel
 » Tourism Chilliwack (Ex Officio)

Councillor Ken Popove
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Councillor Jason lum has been serving the Chilliwack Community as a Councillor since 
December of 2011. Councillor lum represents his community as a member of the:

 » agricultural advisory Committee         
(Vice Chair)

 » Chilliwack agricultural Commission
 » fraser Valley Regional District board 
 » fraser Valley Regional hospital board 

(First Alternate)

 » fraser Valley Regional treaty advisory 
Committee

 » Mayor’s Committee on Housing (Vice 
Chair)

 » parcel tax Roll Review panel
 » transportation advisory Committee 

(Chair)

Councillor Jason Lum

Councillor ken huttema has been serving the Chilliwack community as Councillor on 
Chilliwack City Council since Dec 1, 2008. Councillor huttema represents his community as 
a member of the:

 » Agricultural Advisory Committee (Chair)
 » Chilliwack Economic partners Corporation
 » Chilliwack agricultural Commission
 » Downtown planning implementation 

Committee (Chair)
 » Downtown Chilliwack business 

Improvement Association Board (Liaison)
 » Emergency Executive Committee
 » Fraser Valley Regional District Board (First 

Alternate)

 » fraser Valley Regional hospital board 
(First Alternate)

 » Mayor’s Committee on Health Issues (Vice 
Chair)

 » Rural Issues Advisory Committee (Vice 
Chair)

 » Transportation Advisory Committee (Vice 
Chair)

Councillor Ken Huttema

Councillor Sue attrill has been serving the Chilliwack community as Councillor on Chilliwack 
City Council since Dec 1, 2008. Councillor attrill represents her community as a member of 
the:

 » Cultural Centre Board (Liaison)
 » Committee to Approve Public Events (Vice 

Chair)
 » Design Review Panel (Vice Chair)
 » fraser Valley Regional District board 

(Second Alternate)

 » fraser Valley Regional hospital board 
(Second Alternate)

 » Mayor’s Committee on Housing (Chair)
 » parcel tax Roll Review panel
 » Rural Issues Advisory Committee (Chair)

Councillor Sue Attrill

Councillor Stewart mclean has been serving the Chilliwack community as Councillor on 
Chilliwack City Council since Dec 1, 2008. Councillor mclean represents his community 
as a member of the:

 » Chilliwack healthier Community 
Stewardship Council (Co Chair)

 » Committee to approve public Events 
(Chair)

 » fraser Valley Regional District board 
(Third Alternate)

 » fraser Valley Regional hospital board 
(Third Alternate)

 » Fraser Valley Regional Library (Alternate)
 » mayor’s Committee on health issues 

(Chair)
 » Public Safety Advisory Committee (Vice 

Chair)

Councillor Stewart McLean

mayoR & CoUNCil 7www.ChilliwaCk.Com



Mayor’s Message

mayoR’S mESSaGE

The City’s 
successes 
would 

not have been 
possible without 
the dedication and 
commitment of 
many people: my 
Council colleagues, 
members of our 
advisory committees, 
volunteers, residents 
and our City staff.

2012 was filled with many great accomplishments and this report offers a great 
opportunity to reflect on those. The City’s successes would not have been possible without 
the dedication and commitment of many people: my Council colleagues, members of our 
advisory committees, volunteers, residents and our City staff. Please accept my sincerest 
gratitude for all you do to ensure Chilliwack is a great city to call home.

there were many accomplishments in 2012. to name just a few:

 » Upgraded Digester 3 at the wastewater 
treatment plant

 » Upgraded 2,500 metres of water mains
 » Rehabilitated 11 kms of roads
 » Changed the bus schedule to provide 20 

minute service on the main Vedder line
 » Received award from the Vancouver 

Chapter of the National association of 
Industrial and Office Properties for ‘Most 
business friendly’

 » Completed the agricultural area plan 
and Eastern hillsides Comprehensive 
area plan

 » presented a new vision for downtown 
revitalization

 » implemented myCity – an internet 
portal allowing the public to access 

their property tax and utility billing 
information

 » increased community trail system 
through addition of 250 stairs in the 
Jinkerson Road area.

 » hired an additional RCmp member to 
assist with public safety

 » The City of Chilliwack (Safer City), the 
Chilliwack RCmp and maDD joined 
together to implement a community-
wide program that includes road signage 
encouraging the public to call 911 to 
report suspected impaired drivers

 » Undertook major renovation of yarrow 
fire hall #3

 » partnered with SD#33 to fund the 
Rosedale Community School project

the City was able to fund all of its projects and commitments without the use of borrowing 
and with a tax increase consistent with our neighbours. more importantly, we accomplished 
this with the lowest business taxation level of the nineteen lower mainland communities 
surveyed, along with the second lowest residential taxation level.

i encourage you to read through our annual Report to learn about our many community 
accomplishments over the last year. for me and all those who have contributed to our 
community, the Annual Report represents the goals we have achieved, promises fulfilled 
and our objectives for the future.  

happy reading! 

 

mayor Sharon Gaetz 

On behalf of Council, it is my privilege to present to 
you, the City of Chilliwack’s 2012 Annual Report.
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2012 hiGhliGhtS

2012 Highlights

Supporting 
Our 

Economy

Creating
Recreational

Spaces

UFV To Establish 
Downtown Campus

Building donated by 
Bank of Montreal

Heritage 
Park

Operations and 
marketing transferred 
to Chilliwack Tourism

New 
Infrastructure

New Digester at 
Wastewater Treatment 

Plant

Webster Skate 
Park

Opened in September

Yarrow 
Park

New playground, 
sportsfield, and skate 

park

More 
Trails

Peach Trail 
reconstruction and 

Jinkerson Road stairs

Transit 
Improvements

High frequency 
service along Yale-

Vedder corridor

Vehicle Charging
Stations

Tourist Information 
Centre and City Hall

Better 
Accessibility

New wheelchair 
ramps in many 

areas

Improved 
Roads

11 km of new 
asphalt

Helping
People Get 

Around
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mUNiCipal DEpaRtmENtS

Mayor
Sharon Gaetz

City Councillors
Sue A�rill
Ken Hu�ema
Jason Lum

Stewart Mclean
Ken Popove
Chuck Stam

Chief Administra�ve Officer
Peter Monteith

Corporate Services
Director

Rob Carregie

Wayne Moseanko
Property Manager 

Delcy Wells
Deputy Director of
Corporate Services

Finance
Director

Kathleen Fraser

Manager of Revenue
Services

Jennifer Kooistra

Glen Savard
Manager of Accoun�ng

Services

Public Works
Director

Glen MacPherson

Assistant Opera�ons
Manager

Neil Calver

U�li�es 
Superintendent

Brendan Kurtz

Sandy Hamilton
U�li�es 

Superintendent

Corporate Project
Manager

Eric Dyck

Deputy CAO
Chris Crosman

Parks, Recrea�on 
& Culture
Director

Gord Pederson

Carolyn Marleau
Manager of 

Leisure Development

Dave Snider
Manager of Parks

Ryan Mulligan
Manager of 

Civic Facili�es

Planning & Strategic 
Ini�a�ves
Director

Kurt Houlden

Gillian Villeneuve
Manager of 

Development Planning

Karen Stanton
Manager of Long 
Range Planning

Development & Regulatory 
Enforcement Services

Director
Lisa Thompson

Garre� Schipper
Manager of 

Techincal Services

Glen White
Approving Officer/
Manager of Land

Development

Fire
Fire Chief
Rick Ryall

Ian Josephson
Assistant Fire Chief 

Protec�on / Inspec�on

James MacDonald
Assistant Fire Chief

/ Emergency Program 
Coordinator

Jeff Ullyot
Assistant Fire Chief

Training / Opera�ons

Engineering
Director

David Blain

U�li�es Engineer
Chandra Naiduwa

Manager of
Environmental 

Services

Janet Demarcke

Manager of Flood 
Protec�on 

Infastructure

Tara Friesen

Manager of
Transporta�on

& Drainage

Rod Sanderson

RCMP Officer-in-Charge
Superintendent
Keith Robinson

Jennifer Massie
Administra�on 

Manager (RCMP)

Paul Whitehouse
Purchasing Manager

Erik Leidekker
Informa�on 

Technology Manager 

Karia Graham
City Clerk

Municipal Departments
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The Finance Department is responsible for the financial 
management of the City’s assets.

Staff  work closely with other departments, the RCMP, and 
the Fraser Valley Regional Library to coordinate financial 
activities. finance also coordinates the annual review of the 
City’s Development Cost Charge bylaw and is responsible for 
development of the financial plan.

this department’s functions include:

 » investments
 » payroll
 » accounts payable
 » accounts receivable
 » Collection of property 

taxes, water, sewer and 
curbside fees

 » Safekeeping of all 
financial instruments

 » municipal government 
grant research

 » production of the 
annual municipal report

Corporate Services provides a wide variety of internal services 
to Council and other City departments.

Some of these include:

 » access to information
 » Damage Claims
 » Geographic mapping
 » human Resources
 » information Systems
 » labour Relations
 » liquor licensing

 » occupational health and 
Safety

 » property management
 » purchasing
 » Records management
 » Risk management

the Corporate Services Department also provides the statutory 
function of the City Clerk, which facilitates Council business 
by:

 » preparing minutes and agendas

The Chief Administrative Officer acts as a liaison for Mayor and 
Council, providing direction to all departments.

administration supplies support for Council, Committees of 
Council and department operations. this division of local 
government is responsible for ensuring:

 » The most cost-effective delivery of services to the 
public

 » Corporate fiscal responsibility and accountability
 » municipal services are provided in a timely and friendly 

manner
 » Departments and municipal operations are responsive 

to community needs

2012 Highlights

Sardis library - this 10,600 square foot facility has been 
built with a number of environmental considerations and 
sustainable design principles to reduce annual operating costs 
and conserve current and future resources.  See chilliwack.
com/sardislibrary for details regarding all the exciting services 
being provided.

Administration
 » Composing, reviewing and providing advice on municipal 

bylaws
 » initiating the follow-up action to Council meetings
 » Providing adjudication services for bylaw offenses

2012 Highlights

 » Developed a new job application system to make it 
easier for the public to apply for vacancies and to add 
efficiencies to the selection process so that applicants can 
be responded to more promptly and positions can be filled 
faster.

 » Coordinated the acquisition of the first group of properties 
in support of the Downtown implementation plan.

 » Sponsored the municipal information Systems association 
of british Columbia 2012 fall Conference at the harrison 
hot Springs Resort and Spa which attracted over 350 
delegates and 62 exhibitors which are the highest 
numbers achieved to-date for a fall conference.

 » Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Servers and software 
upgrade:  all modules of the software have been upgraded 
to the latest version, which ensure stability of the services 
offered to the public.

 » Completed the tempest myCity and ebilling projects to 
improve public access to their own billing information.

 » implemented health and safety programs resulting in a 53 
percent reduction in days of work lost due to workplace 
injury as compared to 2011.

GENERal GoVERNmENt

General Government

Corporate Services Finance
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Parks, Recreation & Culture

The Parks, 
Recreation & 
Culture department 
is responsible for 
the coordination 
and delivery of 
leisure services in 
Chilliwack. 

this division operates a number of 
facilities including:

 » Evergreen hall 
 » the landing Sports Centre
 » twin Rinks arena
 » funding for the operations of many 

of Chilliwack’s cultural programs is 
supplied through the parks, Recreation 
& Culture department such as:

 - Chilliwack museum and archives
 - Community Schools
 - Senior Resources
 - youth Services
 - Gwynne Vaughan park

parks, Recreation & Culture also 
coordinates the contracted operations of:

 » Cheam leisure Centre 
 » Chilliwack heritage park
 » Chilliwack landing leisure Centre
 » Chilliwack library/yarrow library
 » Great blue heron Nature Reserve
 » Rotary outdoor pool
 » Chilliwack Cultural Centre

the parks, Recreation & Culture department 
takes a “community development” 
approach to providing leisure services 
to Chilliwack. the Department works 

with various cultural groups, sports 
organizations, community associations, 
businesses, not-for-profit societies and 
service clubs, in order to offer residents a 
wide variety of leisure opportunities.

the parks division is responsible for the 
development and maintenance of about 
100 sites including the City’s sports fields, 
trails, municipal buildings and parks.

there are about 75 km of walking, hiking 
and cycling trails throughout the Chilliwack 
area that are continuously being expanded 
and enhanced. one of the most highly used 
systems is the Vedder River Rotary trail, a 
15.5 km that runs along the Vedder River.
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2012
Highlights

an open house was held to introduce 
to the community the design for the 
proposed webster Skate park.

Due to the discontinuation of the 
provincial government’s Spirit of 
bC campaign the Chilliwack Spirit 
Committee re-emerged as the Chilliwack 
active for life committee introducing 
with the new branding title, a new logo. 
the Chilliwack active for life committee 
will continue to work with community 
stakeholders to offer healthy living 
activities such as Chilliwack walks,  
move for health and the Community 
Sports hero program.

in 2012 there was announcement 
of a $250,000 dollar grant from 
the provincial government for the 
construction of an outdoor recreation 
facility in Chilliwack. the project 

identified for this funding was the 
conversion of Exhibition field from a 
natural grass facility to artificial turf.

the City of Chilliwack worked with 
heritage park and tourism Chilliwack 
staff to celebrate the 25th Anniversary 
of the Rick hansen man in motion tour. 
Chilliwack was chosen as one of the “End 
of the Day” celebration locations which 
was hosted at heritage park. hundreds 
of people came out to meet Rick hansen 
and witness some of the great local 
talent on display throughout the event.

In May, Mayor Gaetz officiated over 
the official opening of the Rosedale 
traditional Community School outdoor 
recreation facilities which include sports 
fields, tennis courts, a playground and a 
basketball court.

the webster Skate park recognized 
its official opening in September 
with a ribbon cutting ceremony, and 
demonstrations by a local trick riding 
team.

the annual terry fox Run had over 275 
participants and collected over $8000 
dollars for the terry fox foundation.  

the City of Chilliwack partnered with 
the Chilliwack Chiefs to host the bCJhl 
Showcase. the successful event hosted 
over 200 scouts in attendance to 
evaluate players from Canadian and 
american Universities, other Junior 
hockey leagues and the North american 
professional hockey leagues.
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Engineering

Electric Vehicle Charging Stations
two new electric vehicle charging stations, one at the tourist information 
Centre and one at City hall were installed.  the project costs were shared 
between the City and the province.

2012 Asphalt Rehabilitation
 » amadis – ashwell to South End
 » Jackson – ashwell to South End
 » banford – lindell to mcGuire
 » Victoria – Robson to College
 » mcGuire – prest to banford
 » wellington – Corbould to Cook

 » huston – Ryder lake to Elk View
 » old orchard – alameda to Copper 

Ridge
 » Sumas Central – lickman to Evans
 » bailey – prest to lindell
 » South Sumas – Vedder to Church

2012 Pedestrian Safety Improvement 
broadway at Chilliwack Central – sidewalk was added to south east corner to 
provide pedestrian landing space.

2012 Traffic Signal Program
intersection signal upgrades at the following locations:

 » Count down timers at first and Spadina
 » New signal poles at Vedder and luckakuck
 » audible pedestrian signals at yale and williams

2012 Transit Service Expansion
transit route changes to create a high frequency service spine on the yale-
Vedder corridor were introduced in July.  The new Vedder Line offers 20 
minute frequency service, attracting additional riders over the old route 
system.

2012 Road Safety
back to school – the Safer City team conducted driver awareness campaigns 
at 18 elementary schools in the Chilliwack School District.

Intersection Safety Project
intersection safety projects which focused on driver and pedestrian 
behaviour and safety were conducted and supported by public education 
through online surveys, public educational displays and enforcement efforts.

Impaired Driving
through the coordination of partnerships, awareness signage was installed 
roadside across the City advising the public to report impaired drivers; 
additionally, local establishments supported the “you Choose your Ride” 

Transportation
Drainage & Utilities
the transportation, Drainage & Utilities 
divisions work closely with the planning and 
Strategic initiatives Department, to plan works 
required due to growth in the community.  

these works include:
 » potable water systems
 » Sanitary sewer systems
 » Storm sewer drainage systems
 » transportation network

infrastructure includes:
 » Roads & bicycle paths
 » Street lights and traffic signals
 » water mains and reservoirs
 » Sanitary sewers and pump stations

Responsibilities also encompass:
 » Urban Public Transit (bus service system)
 » Safer City program
 » water Conservation program

Environmental Services
the City of Chilliwack is committed to 
developing and implementing sustainable 
programs and initiatives that improve the 
quality of life for Chilliwack residents and 
create environmental benefits in the areas of:

 » Solid waste management
 » Groundwater and surface water protection
 » air quality
 » Climate change
 » Energy initiatives

Flood Protection
The City of Chilliwack is responsible for 50 
kilometers of dyking and related infrastructure that 
protects our community from floods on the Fraser 
and Vedder Rivers.

2012 Highlights
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poster campaign which focused on 
drivers choosing how they were getting 
home before getting behind the wheel 
impaired.

2012 Utilities Upgrade
Completed reconstruction & widening of 
mcGuire Road to 6.5 m after relocating 
hydro poles from Chilliwack River Road to 
prest Road.  

2012 South Chilliwack 
Watermain Upgrade
the following water main installation 
projects were implemented to increase 
capacity for fire flow and improve water 
quality within the distribution system:

 » lickman Road from South Sumas Road 
to adams Road.  

 » Chilliwack River Road from knight 
Road to hall place.  

 » keith wilson Road from well # 3 to 
well # 8.

Eastern Hillsides Balancing 
Reservoir
Design work commenced on the 
construction of the balancing reservoir 
to stabilize the water system pressure 
in eastern Chilliwack. the project is 
scheduled to be completed by the fall of 
2013.

Sanitary Pump Station #2 
Replacement of header piping, 
check valves and installation of flow 
meter chamber including minor 
improvement works to structural and 
electrical elements to ensure future 
use and adequate capacity for future 
development.

Whispering Falls Grit Chamber 
installation of Grit Chamber on the falls 
gravity forcemain in Eastern hillsides 
to prevent large size particles entering 
into the forcemain thereby avoiding it 
clogging.

Water Loss Study
Completed water loss study for the water 
supply system to determine the amount 
of unknown unaccounted water and 
how to mitigate water losses within the 
distribution system. 

Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Upgrade
Construction of Digester # 3:
Constructed 2,100 m3 primary sludge 
digester at the wastewater treatment 
plant to provide necessary expansion for 
the existing solid waste facilities to allow 

for an increase in sewered population.

Water Conservation 
Campaign
a comprehensive water conservation plan 
was designed and implemented to reduce 
summer peak water demand to a more 
sustainable level. the program included 
the following activities:

 » Conducted poster contest to students 
in grades four to six as research 
shows that future habits and lifestyles 
are most influenced during this age;

 » Collaborated with the Chilliwack 
School board and over 500 students 
to learn more on the Chilliwack water 
supply and ways to conserve it;

 » toilet rebate program was continued;
 » Carried out a radio campaign during 

summer months to educate and 
make residents aware of importance 
of water conservation and follow 
instructions on how to use automatic 
sprinklers;

 » Continued with summer sprinkler 
restrictions program from June 1st to 
September 30th.

Fraser River Freshet Response
monitored snowpack, weather and river 
conditions and coordinated response 
activities with public works during the 
2012 freshet, which was approximately a 
1 in 20 year event.

Vedder River Gravel Mngmt.
39,000 cubic metres of gravel was 
removed from three City-owned gravel 
bars in the Vedder River in order to 
maintain the flow capacity of the Vedder 
River floodway. 

Vedder River Mngmt. Study
work continued on a study to update 
the management process for the Vedder 
River corridor to incorporate new 
environmental information and current 
understanding of the hydraulic processes 
of the river.

Environmental Services 
Annual Programs

 » household hazardous waste Day
 » New this year - the waste Reduction 

week was extended to a month-long 
program in october.

 » Sustainable business awards
 » Semi-annual  food Drive and Shred-

a-thon
 » River Clean ups on the Vedder and 

fraser Rivers
 » Semi-annual Garage Sale
 » Semi-annual free metal disposal at 

the Bailey Landfill
 » Spring pitch-in
 » Christmas tree curbside collection 

Bailey Landfill
 » the City received funding through 

federal Gas tax Revenues provided 
by the Regionally Significant 
Projects (RSP) Fund in the amount 
of $3,564,700 for the design, 
construction and operation (for 2 
years) a landfill gas management 
system.

 » The five year operating contract of the 
Bailey Sanitary Landfill was awarded 
to tervita Corporation.

Curbside Program
provision of solid waste and recycling 
collection for over 20,000 residential 
customers.
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2012 Highlights

January 2012 Snow Storm
from January 13th to 22nd the City 
experienced one of the worst winter 
blizzards since the memorable 1996/97 
storm event.  City crews worked 24 hours 
per day to keep the roads in a passable 
condition but this was complicated by 
the severe drifting on many of the north/
south roads. 

public works crews also had to deal with 
the problem of deep snow drifts blocking 
drainage channels in Greendale and East 
Chilliwack.  after notifying Dfo, crews 
undertook emergency in stream removal 
of snow and ice from a number of water 
courses in order to prevent flooding of 
private properties.

Reservoir Cleaning – Chilliwack 
Mountain
Reservoir cleaning is an important part 
of the City of Chilliwack’s water quality 
assurance program. 

in 2012 public works along with Corix 
Utilities carried out cleaning of 5 
reservoir tanks on Chilliwack mountain.  

Electrical Upgrade Well #8
the City of Chilliwack’s water system is 
supplied by the wells located in the 
Sardis/Vedder area. these wells provide 
potable water to the valley floor and the 
surrounding hillsides. 

water production well #8 located at 
44900 keith wilson Road was upgraded 
in 2012 with a new meter drive and 
control panel.  
 

Freshet 2012
City crews carried out freshet high water 
preparation activities in response to a 
forecasted high  freshet:

mowing and brushing of the dykes 
including the areas around the relief 
wells was undertaken in advance of the 
annual dyke inspection.  

public works crews received instruction 
on how to perform dyke inspections. one 
key component to the training was the 
personal safety aspect of working around 
fast moving waterways.  Crew patrolled 
the entire dyke system for several weeks 
including 4 days of 24 hour patrols.

a stockpile of sandbags and sand was 
provided for the public’s use at the gravel 
parking lot adjacent to the ball diamond 
at townsend park. the 2012 freshet saw 

Public Works Department
The Public Works Department is responsible for the operation and maintenance of 
the City’s water, sanitary sewer, storm drainage, road and dyke infrastructure, as well 
as the operation and maintenance of the Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).

Utilities
the Utilities Electrical/mechanical and Underground sections 
operate and maintain:

 » 47 sanitary pump stations
 » 8 drinking water production wells
 » 13 water booster pump stations and 14 reservoirs
 » 700 + kilometres of water and sewer pipe systems

the City operates the water system in accordance with the City’s 
Drinking water Quality assurance program initiatives and the 
provincial Drinking water protection act Regulations.

Wastewater Treatment Plant
the wwtp processes and treats over 6.5 million litres of 
wastewater per year. the plant is continually upgraded to cope 
with increases.

Fleet Maintenance
the fleet maintenance section is responsible for maintaining 
the City’s vehicle and equipment fleet, which currently 

numbers 205 units, ranging from grass mowers to dump trucks 
to excavators and graders.  this section also maintains the 
Chilliwack Fire Department’s fleet of vehicles and fire-fighting 
apparatus.

Public Works
public works liaises with local developers and contractors to 
ensure there is minimal delay in connecting newly constructed 
infrastructure, to allow new development to be serviced as 
timely as possible.

the public works section maintains existing infrastructure:

 » 565 km of paved roadways
 » 38 km of unpaved roads
 » 305 km of storm drainage systems
 » 45 km of dykes
 » approx. 1000 km of open drainage ditches
 » 300 km of sanitary sewer
 » 455 km of water distribution mains
 » 4 storm water drainage pump systems
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mobile pumps operating on Farifield 
island for several weeks to prevent the 
back up of water into private properties. 
 

Public Works New Bucket 
Truck
in 2012, the public works bucket truck, 
Unit 07, reached the end of its service 
life and was replaced.  the new bucket 
truck is multi-purpose and the purchase 
has reduced the need to have three 
vehicles on a worksite to having just 
one vehicle. This truck will significantly 
reduce operating costs and will increase 
the levels of safety for both employees 
and the public.

2012 Open Channel Drainage 
Maintenance
the City’s 2012 open watercourse 
Drainage maintenance program was 
a resounding success with over 60km 
of watercourses being cleaned. as has 
been the case in the past 4 years, the 
City received authorization from the 
Department of fisheries and oceans 
(DFO) to conduct drainage maintenance 
in an expanded work window extending 
from mid-June to october 5th. Notable 
watercourses that underwent drainage 
maintenance include nearly 5,000 
linear metres of the hope Slough in the 
Rosedale area, and over 11,000 linear 
metres of the mcGillivray Slough in 
Greendale.

Promontory Zone 2 Reservoir – 
Perimeter Seal Repair
During the last reservoir cleaning and 
inspection, cracking and damage to the 
roof perimeter seal was detected on the 
promontory Zone 2 Reservoir.  

with the assistance of associated 
Engineering, a suitable new sealant 
process and contractor were selected 
to complete the work while keeping the 
reservoir online.   The new flexible seal 
allows for expansion and contraction 
of the roof section while maintaining a 
impenetrable seal on the perimeter.

New Generators for Pump 
Stations
City crews completed the installation 
of (3) new generators at sewer pump 
stations-  #20 thomas Road, #27 yale 
Road and #28 teskey Road, in 2012. 
   

McGillivray Drainage Pump 
Station Main Hydro 
Transformer Replacement 
During annual oil sampling and 
maintenance of the mcGillivray pump 
station’s high voltage transformer, it was 
discovered that the existing unit showed 
signs of potential failure. the existing 
transformer was constructed in 1974 
and was custom designed and built for 
the operation of this pump station. with 
almost 40 years in service providing 
power for draining the Greendale 
area this transformer has performed 
flawlessly for the City. A new transformer 
was designed, built, installed and 
commissioned  in late october 2012 after 
a 22 week design and build period.

Direct Read Meter 
Replacement
the City of Chilliwack supplies drinking 
water through approximately 18,000 
water service connections: ranging in 
size from 3/4” up to 10” in diameter. 
Every service is equipped with a water 
meter to accurately measure and record 
water consumption. being 100% 
metered, the City enjoys this benefit 
which is uncommon for most Canadian 
municipalities. 

the conversion of direct-read meters to 
newer technologies began 18 years ago 
in 1994 and was completed in December 
2012. 

Every direct-read meter has now been 
removed from the system, leaving only 
the newer high tech, low maintenance, 

touch-pad and radio-read meters in 
service. the many advantages that we are 
seeing from this initiative include:

 » meter reading costs have reduced by 
60%;

 » The efficiency of reading the entire 
meter inventory has improved by over 
100%;

 » knee / back problems and repetitive 
strain injuries associated with manual 
reading of old meters has been 
eliminated; 

 » water leaks have become easier to 
detect;

 » Utility bills using estimated meter 
readings has reduced;

 » Identification of water theft / meter 
bypasses has become much easier;

 » water use audits are now 
considerably more accurate.

Sanitary Sewer Manhole 
Rehabilitation
During the fall months, the City 
completed the scope of works 
established for the 2012 manhole 
rehabilitation program. the purpose 
of this program is to eliminate the 
infiltration of ground water into the 
City’s sanitary sewer collection system, 
and to extend the life of sanitary sewer 
manholes through surface treatments, 
by protecting the manhole interior 
from corrosive atmospheric conditions. 
the treatment process involves using a 
crystallite material which changes the 
molecular structure of the concrete while 
creating a waterproof barrier.

In 2012, staff were able to rehabilitate a 
total of nine manholes within the alloted 
budget.
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took delivery of a new 
firefighter rehabilitation 
vehicle and upgraded 
its breathing apparatus 
equipment. 

participated in several 
community events, including 
the Salvation army’s Christmas 
food Drive, collecting over 
20,000 food donations and 
collecting $2,300 for the food 
bank.

Raised over $16,000 dollars 
for the bC burn fund and 
local charities through several 
fundraisers, such as a fire 
Department calendar.  

The Chilliwack Firefighters 
Education fund awarded 10 
bursaries to local students to 
further their post education 
ambitions.

standards, culminating in 
several live fire exercises.

the training division trained 
and graduated 11 new paid-on 
call firefighters in its five-
month long recruit training 
program.

Conducted an Emergency 
operations Centre exercise 
with representatives from all 
City departments and provided 
training and support for local 
Emergency Social Services 
volunteers.      

the City received JEpp grant 
funding to assist with the 
development of an alternate 
Emergency operations Centre .

Emergency Social Services 
volunteers provided care and 
assistance to 28 evacuees as 
a result of residential fires as 
part of our emergency program. 

Responded to 2,260 calls for 
service, including 343 fires, 
performed 20 rescues and 
provided emergency medical 
aid 125 times.

Paid-on call firefighters 
contributed approx. 20,129 
hours of service to training and 
emergency response in 2012.

Engaged over 5,800 
community members in fire 
and life safety programs and/
or training, through almost 231 
events.
 
participated in 22 health and 
safety inspections of public 
buildings, in coordination 
with bylaw and the RCmp, to 
safeguard public safety in 
multi-family buildings.

trained all 146 members 
in all aspects of fire and 
rescue services to provincial 

2012 Highlights
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the Chilliwack fire Department is responsible for providing:

 » fire prevention
 » fire protection
 » Rescue
 » public hazard mitigation

 » Emergency management 
programs

 » Emergency medical aid 
 » hazardous material 

response 

Chilliwack’s six fire halls protect an area over 250 square kilometres and are all staffed as needed by “paid-on-call’ 
firefighters responsible for fire suppression, rescue and emergency medical aid. Fire engines staffed with career firefighters 
operate out of downtown Fire Hall 1 and Sardis Fire Hall 4 on a 24 hour basis.

the fire Department employs 26 career and 120 “paid on call’ or 
volunteer firefighters who are managed and supported by:

 » four Chief Officers
 » one Fire Prevention Officer
 » one Training Officer

 » one  public Safety 
Educator/fire inspector 

 » two administrative 
assistants.

the fire Department is 
proactive with prevention 
programs. programs range 
from inspections of public 
buildings to teaching life and 
fire safety to school children, 
seniors, community groups and 
local employers. prevention 
programs include:

 » fire prevention week
 » burn awareness week
 » Emergency preparedness 

week
 » Juvenile fire Setter 

program
 » home Smoke alarm 

program
 » fire safety for seniors 

(‘Remember When’ 
Program)

 » health and safety 
inspections

 » fire alarm Upgrade 
program

Under the direction of an 
assistant fire Chief, the 
fire Department organizes 
emergency response 
to disaster, emergency 
preparedness and recovery 
planning.  the fire Department 
works closely with, and 
relies on local volunteer 
groups and other community 
organizations and government 
such as:

 » Emergency Social Services 
 » amateur Radio Club
 » Search and Rescue
 » School District 33
 » fraser health authority
 » provincial government
 » first Nations.
 » other local municipalities

Fire
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another key area of support comes from over 161 volunteers 
who work out of the downtown wellington Community 
Policing and Operational Support Office (CPOS) which houses:

 » Victim Services 
 » Crime Stoppers
 » block / Grow watch
 » Crime free multi-housing 

program 

 » Restorative Justice
 » Citizens on patrol
 » Speed watch

the CpoS sub-station is operated by the 
Chilliwack Community policing Society, which receives a 
significant amount of funding from the City of Chilliwack.  
the Society would not be able to function adequately 
without the dedication of its volunteers.  all of its employees 
and volunteers are committed to making Chilliwack a safe 
place to live and work.  the RCmp is very proud of the 
dedication and hard work these individuals put into helping 
to keep the community safe.

Crime Reduction Strategies
intelligence lead policing is a key element 
to crime reduction as it ensures policing 
resources are used in a way that will have 
the greatest impact on reducing crime 
in the community.  the crime reduction 
initiative focuses on three main tenets:  

 » prolific/priority offender management
 » identifying crime hotspots
 » identifying crime causation factors

all calls for service are important to the 
police, but as crime reduction strategies 
move forward, police will focus on 
developing more targeted approaches to 
reducing criminal activity.

Prolific Offender Management 
Program
the Upper fraser Valley Regional 
Detachment RCMP Prolific Offender 
management program was launched in 
Chilliwack in february 2009.  it is now 

a regional program which expands to 
agassiz, harrison, hope and boston bar.  
the program continues to be a success 
throughout the region.

The Prolific Offender Program continues 
to see success. A few prolific offenders 
have gained employment and some have 
left the criminal lifestyle. while some 
prolific offenders have felt the extra 
police attention and left town for another 
where they will not be known by police, 
others  have recognized that they needed 
to leave town to start fresh and get away 
from their “friends” and the only lifestyle 
they have known.

Marijuana Growing Operations
in 2012, the Upper fraser Valley Regional 
Detachment RCmp Crime Reduction Unit 
once again had a targeted enforcement 
approach to identifying and disrupting 

marijuana growing operations.

Public and Internal Education 
and Training
public education is a key component of 
our overall crime reduction strategy.  as 
we identify trends that are occurring 
in the community, we can provide real 
time information and education on 
ways community members can protect 
themselves and help prevent crime from 
occurring.

in 2012, police also focused on the 
education of members to provide them 
with additional training and development, 
so they have the skills and tools needed 
to fulfill crime reduction goals.

“Stuff the Cruiser” Event
The Forth Annual Chilliwack RCMP “Stuff 
the Cruiser” Event was again a huge 
success with the generous help from the 
community. Several police officers volun-
teered their time and were onsite at three 
overwaitea foods locations throughout 
Chilliwack.

the Chilliwack Detachment provides a wide range of policing services from patrol and investigations to proactive services.  
Operational support is enhanced by support staff (municipal employees, public servants and regular members) fulfilling roles 
as prisoner guards, records management clerks, court liaisons, front counter clerks and other administrative assistance.

Community Policing
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Seasonal Policing
a high visibility and “zero tolerance” 
approach was once again taken to 
police our heavily visited seasonal 
recreation areas throughout Chilliwack 
and surrounding area.  key areas of 
focus were the Chilliwack River Valley, 
Cultus lake, the fraser River, and other 
popular seasonal recreational areas.  
Combined vehicle, bike, atV, and foot 
patrols were conducted allowing for 
greater interaction with the public while 
promoting public safety.

Police Visibility, Non-Vehicle 
Patrols and Seasonal Policing
our key police visibility and community 
relations initiatives were:

 » Non-vehicle patrols (foot/bike/boat/
ATV)

 »  Seasonal policing enforcement & 
education 

 » Road safety and traffic enforcement 
 » auxiliary Constable recruitment and 

training

Organized Crime and Drugs
Several charges were recommended 
in connection with marihuana grow 
operations.  The significant number of 
charges laid, as a result of the hard work 
of the Upper fraser Valley Regional 
Detachment RCmp Crime Reduction Unit, 
has had an impact on the street level 
drug trade in the Chilliwack area and an 
overall impact on organized crime in the 
community.

there were several “crack shacks” 
dismantled through various means 
including door to door knocks from the 
police as well with the assistance from 
Bylaw officers.

First Nations Policing
Community partnerships have continued 
to be maintained and strengthened to 
help address crime issues in first Nations 
Communities.

the UfVRD RCmp first Nations police Unit 
was selected to conduct a pilot project 

for the aboriginal Shield program.  this 
program is similar to the DaRE program, 
but with first Nations content and 
involvement.

Road Safety/Traffic 
Enforcement
Our traffic services unit continues to be 
proactive, concentrating their efforts on 
school zones and impaired driving.  Traffic 
safety is a top priority in the region and 
traffic members as well as General Duty 
members will continue to ensure safety 
on Chilliwack roads.

2012 Highlights
 » Chilliwack Community 

policing Society saw over 
2000 hours of volunteer time

 » auxiliary policing program 
has 25 volunteers who 
volunteered over 4759 hours

 » UFVRD RCMP “Stuff the 
Cruiser” Event collected 
$2989 in cash donations and 
over 7500 food items

 » first Nations police Unit 
conducted over 20 boat 
patrols on the fraser River
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Chilliwack 
Economic Partners 
Corporation 
(CEPCO) is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of the 
City of Chilliwack, with its own 
Board of Directors, consisting 
of representatives from local 
businesses and community 
stakeholders. The financial 
activities of this organization 
are consolidated into the 
Environmental Development 
section of the City’s financial 
statements.

2012 HIGHLIGHTS

Canada Education Park
 » Canada border Services agency has expanded their lease space 

from CEpCo for scenario based training. 
 » UfV began classes in September 2012 at their $40 million building. 
 » Construction of servicing infrastructure at the park was completed.

Downtown Chilliwack
 » Bank of Montreal (BMO) donated their building at Five Corners to 

UfV to establish a downtown Chilliwack campus.
 » working with the City of Chilliwack in the redevelopment of the 

downtown.

Eagle Landing
 » New home of BMO, Original Joes, Source, family dental office and 

five Guys burgers.

Odessa Group
 » building a hotel with 75 guestrooms and 1650 sq.ft. of conference 

space.  the hotel will be completed and open in august 2013.

Chilliwack Agricultural Area Plan
 » the Chilliwack agricultural Commission worked with the City of 

Chilliwack to complete the Chilliwack agricultural plan, which 
will be incorporated into the City’s Official Community Plan.  The 
Chilliwack agricultural Commission has begun to implement 
recommendations from the plan.

Development and support of Chilliwack’s various industrial and 
commercial parks: Chilliwack business Estates, Eagle landing, highway 
1 Business Park, Progress Way Industrial Park, Legacy Pacific Industrial 
park, Cattermole industrial Estates and kerr avenue food processing 
park.

worked with the City of Chilliwack on the development and 
implementation of the industrial Revitalization tax Exemption bylaw and 
Downtown Revitalization tax Exemption bylaw.

Developed a marketing Subcommittee to provide an innovative 
approach to market Chilliwack to become a leading entrepreneurial 
community.

Created an incubator Subcommittee to develop a creative environment 
for Chilliwack that fosters entrepreneurial ideas to grow into sustainable 
businesses.

physician and health care professionals recruitment.

Developed a Creative industry sector strategy for Chilliwack.
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CEPCO

CEpCo’s mission statement is 
“attracting and facilitating economic 
growth”.  to accomplish this, CEpCo:

 » Supports local businesses in 
achieving their growth plans through 
Chilliwack business link, CEpCo’s 
business retention and expansion 
program.

 » Encourages and works with 
businesses outside Chilliwack to 
establish their businesses in the 
community.

 » Engages businesses in key industries, 
such as agriculture, manufacturing, 
health care, technology, 
education,film, and aviation / 
aerospace.

CEpCo continues to be the lead 
agency involved in the development 
of Canada Education park.  the 
redevelopment of the former Cfb 
Chilliwack presents economic 
development opportunities and the 
park includes the following agencies:

 » University of the Fraser Valley (UFV)
 » Justice institute of british Columbia
 » RCMP Pacific Region Training Centre
 » Canada border Services agency

CEpCo facilitates strategies through 
partnerships with many community 
and government stakeholders as well 
as CEpCo’s subsidiaries:

 » Chilliwack agricultural Commission
 » Chilliwack film Commission
 » Chilliwack aviation and aerospace 

planning Committee
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Planning and Development

Each year the City participates in the Vancouver Chapter of the 
National Association of Industrial and Office Properties (NAIOP) 
municipal Survey of Commercial and industrial Development Costs. 
annually, Naiop acknowledges municipalities that excel in creating 
environments that are positive to business creation. in 2012, Naiop 
recognized the City with an award for “most business friendly”.  the 
City was presented this award in recognition for its establishing 
an industrial Revitalization tax Exemption program. Construction 
in excess of $1 million (or an alteration/addition of an existing 
industrial building with same value) qualifies to save on industrial 
property taxes for five years with this new industrial incentive.

the agricultural area plan was adopted 
as a schedule to the Official Community 
plan in June 2012, following extensive 
stakeholder consultation.  the plan 
highlights major issues affecting the 
future of agriculture in Chilliwack, and 
outlines goals, policies and actions to 
ensure a sustainable agriculture sector 
over the next 20 years.

provincial funding for the Chilliwack 
health and housing Contact Centre 
Chilliwack was announced.  this 
project was made possible by a five-
year coordinated community effort 
by government and non-government 
organizations, community agencies, and 
partners to establish one stop access to 
health and social services. the contact 
centre will improve the quality of life of 
the people of Chilliwack, by improving 
the health and social condition of 
people in need.  key project partners 
include BC Housing, the Pacific 
Community Resource Society, fraser 
health, the City of Chilliwack, and 
the Real Estate foundation of british 
Columbia.  the Centre is expected to be 
operating by late Spring 2013.

the City’s zoning bylaw was amended 
to require 50% of all new apartments 
to be built to the bC building Code’s 
adaptable housing Standards. the 
amendment supports ‘aging in place’ 
for seniors who are able to live 
independently. 

the Downtown Revitalization task force 
continues to meet and work to address 
the objectives that will accelerate the 
revitalization and redevelopment of 
downtown, in a manner consistent with 
the City’s Downtown land Use plan.

the Eastern hillsides Comprehensive 
area plan was completed and adopted 
by Council. the resulting plan balances 
community values with respect to 
hillside development and market 
realities and a development scale that 
is supported by a servicing strategy and 
a clear cost recovery model.

in 2012, Council recognized the 
need to allow increased flexibility 
and innovation in the City’s hillside 
developments.  a new policy is under 

development to establish standards 
that ensure new development is 
successfully integrated within our 
hillsides’ unique context. 

A review of the 1998 Chilliwack Official 
Community plan was initiated in fall 
2012 to review the City’s growth 
management strategy.  Revisions 
are anticipated to ensure the plan 
incorporates recent planning initiatives, 
responds to community needs, and 
meets legislative requirements.  an 
extensive public engagement program 
was initiated in fall 2012 and will 
be ongoing for the duration of the 
project through an online forum, and 
other activities. Next steps include 
a refinement of potential growth 
scenarios illustrating where and 
how new growth will occur over the 
next 30 years, a review of planning 
policies, additional public engagement, 
refinement of growth management 
strategy, and a revision of the plan to 
a new, dynamic format.  the project is 
anticipated to complete by the end of 
2013.

2012 Highlights
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Planning & Strategic Initiatives
 » Development planning
 » long Range planning
 » Rezoning & Development 

Variance permits
 » Development permits 

(Form & Character)

 » agricultural land Reserve 
applications

 » Official Community Plan
 » ‘One Stop’ Business 

Registration and licensing

2012 Highlights
Planning & Strategic Iniatives

 » 532 New business 
licences

 » 35 Rezoning applications
 » 16 temporary Use permits
 » 23 Development Variance 

permits

 » 28 form & Character 
Development permits

 » 12 agricultural land 
Reserve applications

2012 Highlights
Development & Regulatory Services

 » 182 New lots created
 » 198 New single-family 

dwellings constructed
 » 238 other dwelling units 

(including multi-family)
 » 115 health and Safety 

inspections carried out
 » 8 marijuana Grow 

operations shut down
 » 13 Development 

Permits (Geotechnical, 
Environmental & Riparian)

Development & Regulatory Services
 » land Development
 » Subdivision
 » Development permits
 - Geotechnical/

Environmental & Riparian

 » property Records 
maintenance

 » building permits and 
inspections

 » bylaw Enforcement 

Planning and Development within the city operate as two departments in the organization. The first department is Planning and 
Strategic Initiatives and is led by David Blain. The second is Development and Regulatory Services which is led by Lisa Thompson. The 
purpose of each of these departments functions are as follows:
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a main strategic objective for tourism 
Chilliwack is to increase overnight 
visitors to Chilliwack.  a range of 
programs and services are offered 
to engage the tourism industry and 
the community in working together 
toward this objective.  the overall 
strategies are well-balanced and include 
visitor services, marketing, sector and 
partnership development and a business 
minded approach that allows the 
organization to explore non-traditional 
opportunities for revenue generation 
and the provision of services.

in January 2012, tourism Chilliwack 
added facility management to the list 
of services provided when they took 
over the management of Chilliwack 
heritage park operations and marketing.  
this important community owned 
trade and exhibition facility is home to 
a wide range of events and activities 
throughout the year.  the objectives of 
tourism Chilliwack as manager are to 
increase the economic impact of the 
facility on the community, implement a 
strategic plan that guides improvements 
and capital investment, and ensure 
operations remain financially 

sustainable.  there were 54 large scale 
events, 34 smaller events, and a wide 
range of evening rentals that attracted 
approximately 165,000 people in 2012.

the Chilliwack Visitor Centre remained 
a busy location in 2012 despite the 
ongoing negative impacts of the global 
economy on travel.  the Visitor Centre 
is open year round and benefits from a 
highly visible and accessible location 
alongside highway #1.  it receives many 
positive comments on the amount and 
quality of information available for both 
local residents and visitors.  tourism 
Chilliwack is proactive in exploring new 
ways to provide visitor services and 

takes advantage of highway signage, 
social media, blogging, and other online 
technology to accomplish this objective. 

tourism Chilliwack also provides the 
materials necessary to properly market 
Chilliwack as a visitor destination.  
an extensive library of quality 
high definition video footage and 
photographs of Chilliwack and the 
surrounding area has been compiled.   
the community marketing materials 
build upon the tag line ‘The Great 
outside’ and also include a Visitor’s 
Guide, maps, and sector/activity focused 
initiatives that promote agri-tourism, arts 
and culture, hiking, and fishing.

the business minded approach of 
tourism Chilliwack provides expanded 
revenue opportunities not dependent 
upon government funding.  Since 2007 
tourism Chilliwack has been the owner/
operator of the Chilliwack flag Shop 
franchise, one of twelve locations across 
Canada.  this business initiative better 
utilizes the high profile nature of the 
Visitor Centre by attracting people year-
round.  

led by a private 
sector board of 
Directors, tourism 
Chilliwack was 
incorporated in 
December 2006 with 
the City of Chilliwack 
the sole shareholder.  
tourism Chilliwack 
was originally 
established in 1998 
as a subsidiary of the 
Chilliwack Economic 
partners Corporation 
(CEPCO).  
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Tourism Chilliwack 
is based at the 
Chilliwack Visitor 
Centre and is a 

leading Community Destination 
Marketing Organization in British 
Columbia, with a mandate to 
strengthen the tourism industry 
in the City of Chilliwack.  The 
mission of Tourism Chilliwack, 
“Working together with the 
tourism industry, to attract and 
retain visitors to our community,” 
captures the partnership 
approach necessary to increase 
the economic benefits derived 
from the tourism industry for our 
community. 

Tourism

Over 18,000 
people served 
at Chilliwack 

Visitor Centre in 2012.

2012 Highlights  » managed operations and 
marketing at Chilliwack heritage 
park

 » welcomed 54 large scale events, 
34 smaller events, and a wide 
range of evening rentals that 
attracted approximately 165,000 
people

 » Community infrastructure 
improvement fund federal Grant 
for new ventilation system at 
Chilliwack heritage park

Cultus Lake
 » launched a new cooperative 

destination marketing program in 
partnership with the Cultus lake 
park board 

Hand Picked in the Valley 
 » award winning leisure travel 

marketing campaign in partnership 
with langley and abbotsford

Fish Chilliwack
 » Comprehensive sport fishing 

cooperative marketing program

 » Extensive use of social media and 
other online marketing initiatives

 » 7th year of award winning regional 
Circle farm tour program 

 » Coordinated 4th Slow food Cycle 
tour  - an agri-tourism event with 
over 600 participants

 » Self guided artisan tour brochure 
of studios/galleries completed for 
5th year 

 » owner/operator of Chilliwack flag 
Shop franchise 

 » Community Service provider for 
worldhost training courses from 
tourism british Columbia

 » Showcase Chilliwack with high 
definition video footage and 
photography

 » member of bC Sport tourism 
Network 

 » held 9th annual business on 
the Green Golf tournament in 
partnership with the Chilliwack 
Chamber of Commerce
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SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION



Financial 
Stability

plan for anticipated 
community needs.

long term Comprehensive municipal 
Plan (CMP) updated annually. 

to Council in march 2012.

fund planned capital 
expenditures.

balance Cmp without long-term 
borrowing. 

No long-term debt required 
in 2011 Cmp. 

build reserves for 
unanticipated community 
needs.

have Unrestricted General Reserve 
fund balance of $8 million by 2014. 

2012 closing balance of $11.5 
million.  Cmp includes an annual 
allocation to the Unrestricted 
Reserve.  

maintain a reasonable 
tax burden for taxpayers.

tax rate increase similar to rate 
increase of other local governments.

Chilliwack’s 2013 tax increase was 
3.44%, abbotsford was 2.06%, 
maple Ridge 3.25%, and langley 
2.79%. 

Chilliwack remains at the low end of 
municipal taxation on a representative 
home when compared to similar 
communities in the lower mainland.

only Surrey has lower taxation than 
Chilliwack, of the 19 communities 
surveyed.  with Utilities and other 
Gov’t levies included, Chilliwack is 
lowest.

Chilliwack remains at the low end of 
business taxation when compared 
to similar communities in the lower 
mainland.

Chilliwack has the lowest class 
multiplier of 19 communities 
surveyed. 

other revenue opportunities explored. available Government Grants 
applied for.  Received $3,564,733 
for the Bailey Landfill Gas Extraction 
System project under the RSp Gas 
tax program.   applying for the next 
round of flood infrastructure grants.

identify priority projects that will be 
eligible for infrastructure grants and 
save for municipal portion.

incorporated a savings plan into 
the 10 year financial plan for 
1/3 funding for the Collinson, 
mcGillivray and hope River 
drainage pump stations. 

New growth pays for itself. DCC bylaw reviewed and rates 
amended. 

Good 
Stewardship 
of Municipal 
Infrastructure

maintain the road system. average pavement quality index goals 
set at:  arterial 6.5, Collector 6.0, local 
5.5.  

investment into road rehabilitation 
program was updated in 2013 to 
$2.6 million to allow additional 
paving, and rising to $3.075 million 
in 2015.

maintain the utility systems. Service delivery interruptions 
minimized.

flushed 170% of water system in 
2012.  Replaced 3,440 meters of 
aging cast iron water pipes.  over 
850 life expired water meters 
replaced in 2012.  over 1,400 
backflow prevention devices tested 
in 2012.  Replaced 30 meters of 
sanitary sewer and flushed 120 km.

Maintain municipal fleet. Repair and replacement program 
planned and funded.

Vehicle maintenance management 
System in use.  Equipment 
Replacement Reserve fund in 
balance.  Replaced aged items.

OBJECTIVE STRATEGY MEASURE PROGRESS
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maintain municipal 
facilities.

fund maintenance programs. funded all major maintenance 
identified as required.

manage airport lease. manage airport lease. Compliance with airport head 
lease and operating agreement as 
measured by breaches and recorded 
variance from contractual terms.   
Completed condition assessment of 
runway, taxiways and apron areas 
in 2012 including completion of 
necessary crack sealing.  Global 
Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) 
approach and departure procedures 
proposal currently under review 
by transport Canada with approval 
expected in 2013.

protect the community 
from flood risk.

230,000 cubic meters of gravel 
removed from the fraser River annually 
. 
110,000 cubic meters of gravel 
removed from the Vedder River every 
second year.

No gravel removed from the 
fraser River in 2012.  provincial 
Government developing a 10-
year gravel management plan.  
39,000 cubic meters of gravel  was 
removed from the Vedder River in 
2012. the reduced removal volume 
is a reflection of lower than normal 
gravel deposition.

Existing funding opportunities for flood 
studies and dyke upgrades maximized.  
Senior levels of government lobbied for 
additional monies.

applied for $4 million in provincial-
federal funding for dyke and pump 
station upgrades in 2011-2014. 
Secured $1.56 million for the young 
Road Dyke Upgrades project. 

open drainage watercourses and 
ditches in the floodplain cleaned on a 
3 - 7 year cycle to maintain drainage 
integrity.

Cleaned over 60,000 meters of 
open drainage channels with Dfo 
approval in 2012.

Drainage pumping stations to be 
operable at all times.

New flood box gate installed at 
mcGillivray pump station to allow 
free flow to Vedder River during 
periods of low river levels.

Dykes maintained to provincial 
standards.

all dykes inspected and maintained 
in 2012 prior to freshet.  

maximize utilization 
of existing infrastructure. 

Development directed to serviced 
areas.

Infill continued in 2012. 

Ensure adequate water 
supply.

amount of water produced 
meeting daily demand. 

Demand met.  lawn watering 
restrictions during summer.  
approved 276 applications for 
the toilet rebate program.  a 
comprehensive water conservation 
plan is being designed and 
implemented.

Ensure quality drinking 
water. 
 

meets drinking water standards. Comprehensive and extensive 
drinking water quality testing 
program undertaken in 2012, with 
2,300 water samples tested.  high 
drinking water quality standards 
being maintained.  Review of 
Drinking water Emergency 
Response plan in 2012 was 
undertaken.

OBJECTIVE STRATEGY MEASURE PROGRESS

obJECtiVES, mEaSURES & pRoGRESS30 City of ChilliwaCk | 2012 annual municipal report



Good 
Stewardship 
of the 
Environment

protect the waterways. Effluent meets or exceeds 
provincial standards. 

Continues to meet provincial 
standards.  New digester 
construction at the wwtp to meet 
demand.

Enhancement of fish habitat. fish habitat improvement projects 
completed in knox Creek and 
Dunville Creek.  2012 Dfo 
approvals also require 3kms of 
habitat enhancement at Street 
Creek, Elk Creek, big Ditch and 
Stewart Creek in the spring of 2013.

protect water course 
riparian areas.

Consider scientifically determined 
stream setbacks in all new 
development applications. 

Continued to protect riparian areas 
by maintaining RaR standards and 
enforcing Development permit area 
#11 rules.   2 km of streamside 
plantings along Salwein Creek 
undertaken after the completion of 
2012 ditching program.

Encourage recycling. Diversion rate for recycling items 
increased to 40% by 2012, 41% by 
2013 and 42% by 2014.

Recycling rate 38% in 2012.  
increasing education on 
requirements of recycling programs.  
An organics (food scrap) diversion 
program will be investigated. 

protect the air shed. work with the province to assess 
agricultural air quality impacts.

best practices for nutrient 
management are addressed in the 
2012 agricultural area plan. 

Explore economically viable methane 
extraction opportunities.  install a gas 
extraction system at the Bailey Landfill.

a biogas boiler has been installed 
at the wwtp to utilize the methane.  
a gas extraction system will be 
installed at the Bailey Landfill in 
2013.  

Reduced reliance on automobiles. budget increase in 2013 will 
provide for local fleet expansion 
from 7 to 9 buses to extend the 
length of our service day and 
routes.  in 2014 a provision has 
been included to provide a transit 
connection to abbotsford.

protect the air Shed by fostering a 
community to become more energy 
efficient. 

Energy integration Study completed 
for the Chilliwack landing area. 

minimize burning. burning reduction measures 
included in community air quality, 
energy and greenhouse gas action 
plan. one of the objectives in the 
2012 agricultural area plan is to 
reduce the extent of open burning 
on Chilliwack farms.

minimize energy 
consumption in municipal 
facilities.

Reduction in energy consumption. Civic facilities have been equipped 
with energy efficient systems to 
reduce consumption.  additional 
energy efficiency measures were 
identified in the Corporate Air 
Quality, Energy and Greenhouse 
Gas action plan and the Chilliwack 
landing Energy integration Study 
completed in 2012.
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promote a “zero waste” 
philosophy to minimize the 
generation of solid waste in 
the City, while maximizing 
reuse and recycling 
initiatives.

Reduce the annual amount of 
residential garbage being generated 
per household and increase the 
diversion rate.  implement 2010 waste 
audit recommendations.

in 2012 the estimated annual waste 
generated is 470 kilograms per 
household, a small increase from 
the 2011 annual waste generation 
of 457 kilograms per household.  

Facilitate a High 
Quality of Life

provide quality parks and 
recreational opportunities.

Comparison to other communities. 
taxpayer feedback.

Chilliwack provides excellent 
parks, trails and recreational 
opportunities.  New facilities and 
parks completed in 2012 included 
webster park, webster Skate park, 
island 22 bike park, watson Glen 
park playground, Skelton park 
renovations and the Sardis library.  
Supported by CDi funding, the 
Rosedale and Greendale community 
schools successfully completed 
their first year of community 
programming.  the parks, Recreation 
& Culture strategic plan process 
began to review and identify facility 
and service delivery needs in 2012 
and will be completed in Spring 
2013.

facilitate the attraction 
of community events.

Events held in local recreational 
facilities.

heritage park, prospera Centre, 
and the Chilliwack Cultural Centre 
booked year-round, including large 
scale events.  partnership with the 
active Communities Committee 
and tourism Chilliwack for hosting 
health and wellness events and 
sport tourism opportunities.

Support cultural groups. facility and funding assistance. the Chilliwack Cultural Centre 
completed its second year of 
operation hosting many large scale 
shows and events attracting patrons 
from throughout the region as well 
as providing an important venue for 
developing and showcasing local 
artists and performers.

foster community spirit. Recognize volunteers. Recognized volunteers through 
the annual Community Sport hero 
Recognition program.

Support community organizations. funded $1,296,000 through 
Community Development initiatives 
policy in 2012. 

maintain, enhance and 
promote the natural beauty 
of Chilliwack.

promote tourism. Contract with tourism Chilliwack.

portray a visually appealing image. Review opportunities for improved 
signage. 

Street tree program continues, and 
greening improvement ongoing.

provide a pedestrian friendly 
community.

partner with community 
organizations and fund an annual 
trail enhancement program. 
pursue funding opportunities for 
pedestrian and cycling network 
improvements
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Through innovation and flexibility, 
establish standards to successfully 
integrate hillside development within 
its unique natural context.

Draft hillside Development 
Standards policy.

Attract & 
Maintain 
Business Growth

Contract with CEpCo 
for economic development. 

New business locating in Chilliwack. Non-market business/industry 
assessment increased $6.2 million 
in 2012.

work cooperatively with CEpCo in 
setting mutual priorities. 

CEpCo contract renewed in 2008 
for 5 years. work continues on 
development of the Canada 
Education park.  worked together on 
Chilliwack aviation and aerospace 
planning Committee.

Encourage redevelopment 
in the downtown area. 

Revitalization exemptions applied for. 2 new downtown revitalization 
exemptions in 2011 and 1 in 2012.  

facilitating an environment for 
downtown revitalization.

final report of the Downtown 
task force received by Council 
in 2011. implementation 
Committee established. Reviewing 
recommendations in report. 

Create an environment 
that is positive to business 
creation.

Comparison of taxes and fees, and 
timing of service delivery.

Chilliwack remains at the low end of 
taxes & fees.     

Established a new industrial 
Revitalization tax Exemption bylaw 
in 2011.

in 2011, the City was awarded a 
National association of industrial & 
Office Properties (NAIOP) award.  In 
2012, the City was again awarded 
a Naiop award for the industrial 
Revitalization tax Exemption 
program.

1 application for industrial tax 
Exemption made in 2012.

Ensure plans are in place to 
facilitate regional growth 
predictions.

Regional growth accommodated 
in oCp and Cmp.

assisting the fVRD with a new 
Regional Growth Strategy.  working 
with the alC. 

Attract & 
Maintain 
Business Growth

Contract with CEpCo 
for economic development. 

New business locating in Chilliwack. Non-market business/industry 
assessment increased $6.2 million 
in 2012.

work cooperatively with CEpCo in 
setting mutual priorities. 

CEpCo contract renewed in 2008 
for 5 years. work continues on 
development of the Canada 
Education park.  worked together on 
Chilliwack aviation and aerospace 
planning Committee.

Encourage redevelopment 
in the downtown area. 

Revitalization exemptions applied for. 2 new downtown revitalization 
exemptions in 2011 and 1 in 2012.  

facilitating an environment for 
downtown revitalization.

final report of the Downtown 
task force received by Council 
in 2011. implementation 
Committee established. Reviewing 
recommendations in report. 
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Create an environment 
that is positive to business 
creation.

Comparison of taxes and fees, and 
timing of service delivery.

Chilliwack remains at the low end of 
taxes & fees.     

Established a new industrial 
Revitalization tax Exemption bylaw 
in 2011.

in 2011, the City was awarded a 
National association of industrial & 
Office Properties (NAIOP) award.  In 
2012, the City was again awarded 
a Naiop award for the industrial 
Revitalization tax Exemption 
program.

1 application for industrial tax 
Exemption made in 2012.

Ensure plans are in place to 
facilitate regional growth 
predictions.

Regional growth accommodated 
in oCp and Cmp.

assisting the fVRD with a new 
Regional Growth Strategy.  working 
with the alC. 

Engage the 
Community

provide community forum 
venues on major issues 
under consideration.

public meetings. held open house on DCC’s in 
conjunction with the Development 
process advisory Committee.  held 
public meetings in Ryder lake, 
yarrow, Rosedale and Greendale 
for the Rural issues advisory 
Committee.  held meetings for the 
Eastern hillsides Comprehensive 
area plan.  held community focus 
groups meetings in late 2012 to 
provide input for parks, Recreation 
& Culture Strategic plan.  

Staff attended Canadian 
homebuilders association functions 
regularly; liaised and continued to 
build relationships with members of 
our development community.

provide relevant 
information through the 
City website, Greenheart 
News and the leisure 
Guide.

leisure Guide, Greenheart News, 
annual Report, tax insert made 
available.  Updated website regularly.

all done to satisfaction.  met 
statutory deadline for presentation 
of annual Report.

work closely with 
Committees of Council.

Committees meet regularly, have 
Council representation and provide 
feedback to Council.

all Committees active during year.

work cooperatively with 
senior government elected 
officials. 

meet regularly with mla’s and mp to 
review mutual issues.

Unable to coordinate a joint group 
meeting in 2012; however, met 
individually for specific issues.

Ensure timely and accurate 
information to the 
community.

information provided. Established social media presence 
in 2011 and continued to provide 
timely updates in 2012.

meet regularly with 
Ratepayer groups.

meetings undertaken. met with promontory Ratepayers, 
yarrow Ratepayers and bia groups.

Develop and 
Maintain a First 
Rate Work Force

have recruiting strategies 
that 
attract the brightest and the 
best.

Qualified applicants. Successfully filled 65 posted 
positions to date for 2012 with 
qualified employees, including 31 
new employees to the organization.
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Undertake on-site training 
for employee development, 
as well as encourage 
employee professional 
development.

on site training undertaken.  Employees 
taking relevant professional training.

there were 80 instances of 
employer-sponsored education 
programs provided for employees 
throughout the City.  this is 
comprised of two coordinated 
programs in leadership 
development and conflict resolution 
as well as numerous courses taken 
by individual employees.

provide opportunity for 
internal advancement.

Employee turnover. 34 employees obtained new 
positions within the organization to 
advance in their careers. 

Offer a competitive 
compensation package and 
employee programs.

Comparison to other communities. Spot surveys conducted throughout 
2012 to verify competitive rates on 
individual positions.

workplace safety. Number of workdays lost per year due 
to injury.

118 workdays lost due to injury 
up to September 30th. as a 
comparison, the days lost in 2011 
were 190.

Provide 
Excellent 
Customer 
Service

provide customer service 
training to employees.

training provided. provided group training for about 
45 employees, including a focus on 
our front-line staff.

Seek taxpayer/customer 
feedback.

Customer feedback system in place 
and followed up on.

almost all feedback was positive. 
Complaints followed up on 
promptly.

Provide fast and efficient 
service.

timeliness of customer service. turn-around times met regularly.  
Reviewed over 112 building permits 
(225 hours) under the premium 
plan review process for building 
permits.

Provide a 
Safe 
Community

provide the community with 
effective fire and life safety 
education in an effort to 
reduce the loss of life and 
property.

Provide fire safety and emergency 
preparedness education to community 
groups and the public. 

held approx. 210 education events 
involving over 6,500 persons, including 
education for school children, seniors, 
community and children’s groups and 
local employers.

Increase the fire and life 
safety in multi-family 
residential and senior 
housing properties.

participate in “health and Safety” 
inspections for multi-family housing 
units program.  work towards achieving 
fire and life safety upgrades in older 
apartment buildings. 

Conducted approx. 500 fire inspections 
of multi-family and senior’s residential 
properties, as well as 30 health and life 
safety inspections in conjunction with 
bylaw Enforcement.  Since 2009, 109 
multi-family buildings have been added 
to our fire safety upgrade program and 
35% of those have had the upgrades 
completed to date.  the fire Department 
installed, free of charge, 35 smoke 
alarms in local homes in 2012.

plan for the response and 
recovery of the City and 
community in times of 
disaster. 

Exercise the City’s Emergency 
Preparedness (EP) Plan. 
Complete individual City department 
emergency plans.

Exercised Ep functions during 2012 
spring freshet when several homes were 
threatened by rising fraser River and 
plan to conduct an Ep exercise in the 
fall/winter of 2012.  provided training in 
Ep for our public Educator for use in the 
community and the EoC.  participated 
in Stó:Lō Nation emergency planning 
meetings in october.  Ep manager 
completed his master’s Degree in 
Emergency planning.
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increase the number of 
firefighters in order to 
provide safe and efficient 
firefighting operations and 
reduce entry times at fires.

Increase staffing levels to 4 firefighters 
on both Engines 1 and 4.

Two “flex” firefighters hired in 
November 2012 in an effort to increase 
the “in-service” time of Engine 4, 
stationed in the Sardis fire hall, 
providing a more reliable and faster 
response, south of the freeway.

increase the training 
capacity for firefighters.

Staff a fire trainer position and increase 
the use of contracted training.  begin 
planning for a dedicated fire training 
site. 

planning has commenced with the 
development of a fire training area west 
of Townsend Park to more effectively 
train paid-on call and career firefighters.  
The CMP calls for a firefighter trainer in 
2014.

Support RCmp initiatives 
regarding drugs and drug-
related crime.

Health & Safety Team (Fire, Bylaw and 
RCMP) work together to close and clean 
up residential properties.  bylaw tickets 
issued.

RCmp, bylaw and fire Departments 
involved in shutting down 7 controlled 
substance and marijuana grow 
operations.  Conducted 120 health and 
safety inspections (2012 to date).

Support RCmp youth 
program initiatives.

youth liaison positions funded. funding continues.  prioritized youth 
high usage areas, performed youth 
probation checks, ran the annual RCmp 
youth academy, and worked with 
schools on youth education programs.

Support RCmp activities in 
the downtown area.

fund bike patrols, downtown RCmp 
station.  feedback from taxpayers.

more police presence in the Downtown 
Core.  Crime-free multi-family housing 
initiatives have helped reduce crime.

maintain an adequate 
number of police officers, 
consistent with provincial 
averages.

police to population. funded 1 new member and increased 
funding to part-time civilian staff 
support positions, as well as funded 
a new Information Officer, increased 
contributions to the RCmp teams, and 
maintained a population to member 
ratio of under 800.  funding another 
new member and a full-time civilian 
support position in 2013.

Support RCmp initiatives 
regarding prolific offenders.

Crime trends. Chilliwack has seen an overall reduction 
in crime trends.

Improve traffic education. Education undertaken. public Safety Specialist worked 
with RCmp and iCbC on programs 
and projects to educate motorists, 
pedestrians and cyclists to reduce 
accidents. 

improve the safety of parks 
and public places.

Crime prevention through 
Environmental Design (CPTED) 
principles are applied in park and 
public space upgrades.

three employees are CptED trained.  
improvements during year done with 
CptED principles in mind.

Support improved 
coordination between 
social agencies in the 
community.

Support establishment of healthier 
Community Strategic plan Stewardship 
Council.

implementation of the healthier 
Community Plan (addressing 
homelessness, mental health, 
addictions and crime) begins with the 
establishment of a Stewardship Council 
and the identification of a coordinator 
to support it.  a terms of reference 
for the Stewardship Council has been 
developed, and the inaugural meeting 
of the Council has occurred. 
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Organization Name Community Charter Section 2012 Municipal Taxes
alano Club Section 224(2)(a)  1,531 
ann Davis Section 224(2)(a)  9,225 
ann Davis Section 224(2)(a)  1,387 
ann Davis Section 224(2)(a)  1,970 
atchelitz farmers institute Section 224(2)(a)  2,191 
bethesda Christian association Section 224(2)(a)  1,651 
bethesda Christian association Section 224(2)(a)  1,557 
bCSpCa Section 224(2)(a)  1,739 
Camp River Community hall Society Section 224(2)(i)  1,926 
Canadian hard of hearing association Section 224(2)(a)  565 
Canadian Red Cross Society Section 224(2)(a)  1,250 
Chilliwack academy of music Section 224(2)(a)  1,695 
Chilliwack animal Safe haven Society Section 224(2)(a)  3,592 
Chilliwack Community arts Council Section 224(2)(a)  425 
Chilliwack Community arts Council Section 224(2)(a)  3,289 
Chilliwack Community arts Council Section 224(2)(a)  2,599 
Chilliwack Community policing Society Section 224(2)(a)  3,525 
Chilliwack Community Services Section 224(2)(a)  8,556 
Chilliwack Community Services Section 224(2)(a)  6,793 
Chilliwack Community Services Section 224(2)(a)  3,553 
Chilliwack Community Services Section 224(2)(a)  7,874 
ymCa Section 224(2)(i)  5,039 
ymCa Section 224(2)(i)  12,771 
ymCa Section 224(2)(i)  2,418 
Chilliwack hospice Society Section 224(2)(a)  1,284 
Chilliwack lawn bowling Society Section 224(2)(i)  1,406 
Chilliwack opportunity workshop Society Section 224(2)(a)  2,562 
Chilliwack Senior Recreation Centre Section 224(2)(i)  1,711 
Chilliwack Seniors Social Society Section 224(2)(i)  768 
Chilliwack Senior Veterans Society Section 224(2)(i)  1,547 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  4,093 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  3,645 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  6,571 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  709 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  2,211 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  1,606 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  1,775 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  13,893 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  3,112 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  1,344 
Chilliwack Society for Community living Section 224(2)(a)  1,728 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  338 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  339 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  341 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  388 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  409 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  419 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  375 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  375 
Chilliwack Supportive housing Society Section 224(2)(a)  376 
Chilliwack Victory Church Section 224(2)(g)  5,036 
Coqualeetza Cultural Education Centre Section 224(2)(f)  2,754 
Creative Centre Society Section 224(2)(g)  1,387 
Elizabeth fry Society of Greater Vancouver Section 224(2)(a)  3,479 
Evangelical missionary Church Canada west District Section 224(2)(g)  2,712 
Evangelical missionary Church Canada west District Section 224(2)(g)  5,014 
Evangelical missionary Church Canada west District Section 224(2)(g)  2,081 
keystone ministries Section 224(2)(f)  7,244 
mountain View free Church Section 224(2)(g)  1,745 
pentecostal Senior Citizens Society Section 224(2)(a)  2,029 
promontory Community Church Section 224(2)(g)  6,198 
promontory Community Church Section 224(2)(g)  1,520 
Ruth & Naomi’s Street mission Section 224(2)(a)  5,567 
Ryder lake farmers institute Section 224(2)(a)  1,249 
Southside Church Section 224(2)(g)  2,754 
Southside Church Section 224(2)(g)  5,036 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  1,596 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  3,530 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  22 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  2,061 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  782 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  165 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  433 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  647 
Nature trust of bC Section 224(2)(i)  16,200 
Salvation army Section 224(2)(a)  12,621 
terry fox foundation Section 224(2)(a)  1,340 
Vineyard Community Church Section 224(2)(g)  211 
Xolhemet Society Section 224(2)(a)  1,649 

 237,509 
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KPMG EnterpriseTM Telephone (604) 793-4700
200-9123 Mary Street Fax (604) 793-4747
Chilliwack BC V2P 4H7 Internet www.kpmg.ca/enterprise
Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Chilliwack

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the City of Chilliwack which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012, the  consolidated
statements  of operations  and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets  and cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of City of Chilliwack as at December 31, 2012, and the results of its operations, its
changes in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chartered Accountants

April 16, 2013
Chilliwack, Canada
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City of Chilliwack
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
December 31, 2012 with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2011

Financial Assets
Cash (Note 2) $ 22,063,899 $ 22,555,522
Portfolio investments (Note 2) 70,416,021 54,214,337
Accounts receivable (Note 3) 20,271,247 21,805,756
Loan receivable (Note 4) 509,594 697,003

113,260,761 99,272,618

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilites (Note 5) $ 17,238,036 $ 16,212,760
Development Cost Charges (Note 6) 23,876,464 23,683,738
Unearned revenue (Note 7) 9,786,449 10,148,848
Refundable deposits 5,681,900 5,410,988
Demand loans -                            1,800,000
Capital partnership obligation (Note 8) 8,058,860 8,740,545

64,641,709 65,996,879

Net Financial Assets 48,619,052 33,275,739

Non-Financial Assets
Property Under Development (Note 9) 7,340,761 7,452,265
Tangible Capital Assets (Note 10) 674,155,111 671,475,161
Inventories 908,661 772,100
Prepaid expenses 941,487 1,267,016

683,346,020 680,966,542

Accumulated Surplus (Note 11) $ 731,965,072 $ 714,242,281

_____________________________________________
Kathleen Fraser, CGA
Director of Finance

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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City of Chilliwack
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
Year Ended December 31, 2012 with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2012 2011
Actual Budget Actual

(Unaudited)

Revenues
Municipal taxation and grants-in-lieu of taxes $ 61,957,887 $ 59,695,700 $ 59,114,712
Government grants and transfers 5,283,418              7,621,689              3,665,291              
Sale of services 27,666,901            28,050,480            26,339,001            
Licences, permits, penalities and fines 2,912,947              2,851,000              2,960,362              
Return on investments 1,189,351              630,000                 1,001,281              
Development Cost Charges 6,513,947              12,913,250            3,134,720              
Developer contributions 4,263,315              8,769,500              12,818,302            
Other revenue 1,485,682              971,000                 1,168,086              

111,273,448          121,502,619          110,201,755          

Expenditures
General government services 7,862,228              8,412,000              7,845,369              
Protective services 26,002,867            27,399,000            25,114,141            
Transportation services 17,826,855            17,206,000            16,587,077            
Environmental health services 5,466,514              5,830,490              5,147,112              
Water and sewer services 17,063,131            17,634,000            16,973,596            
Recreation and cultural services 16,262,447            17,291,650            15,602,689            
Planning and development 5,334,392              5,571,350              4,888,190              
Interest and other 252,565                 229,000                 248,647                 

96,070,999            99,573,490            92,406,821            

Annual Surplus Before Other Revenues (Expenditures) 15,202,449            21,929,129            17,794,934            

Other revenues (expenditures)
Gain (Loss) on sale of tangible capital assets 2,520,342              -                            (967,290)               
Tangible Capital Assets tansferred to senior governments -                            -                            (488,499)               

2,520,342              -                            (1,455,789)            

Annual Surplus 17,722,791            21,929,129            16,339,145            

Accumulated Surplus, beginning of year 714,242,281          714,242,281          697,903,136          

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year $ 731,965,072 $ 736,171,410 $ 714,242,281

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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City of Chilliwack
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
Year Ended December 31, 2012 with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2012 2011
Actual Budget Actual

(Unaudited)

Annual surplus 17,722,791$          21,929,129$          16,339,145$          

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (18,307,831)          (50,394,100)          (14,422,518)          
Acquisition of property under development (201,060)               (80,000)                 (2,249,300)            
Provision for impairment of property 203,900                 -                            -                            
Developer contributions (4,263,315)            (8,769,500)            (12,818,302)          
Amortization of tangible capital assets 17,664,792            14,727,000            17,241,653            
Tangible Capital Assets tansferred to senior governments -                            -                            488,499                 
(Gain) Loss on sale of tangible capital assets (2,520,342)            -                            967,290                 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 4,855,410              -                            731,675                 

15,154,345            (22,587,471)          6,278,142              
Change in inventories (136,561)               -                            (8,543)                   
Change in prepaid expenses 325,529                 -                            (49,168)                 
Change in net financial assets 15,343,313            (22,587,471)          6,220,431              

Net financial assets, beginning of year 33,275,739            33,275,739            27,055,308            

Net financial assets, end of year 48,619,052$          10,688,268$          33,275,739$          

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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City of Chilliwack
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2012 with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2011
 

Cash provided by (used for):

Operating Activities:
Annual surplus $ 17,722,791 $ 16,339,145
Non-cash items:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 17,664,792 17,241,653
Provision for impairment of property 203,900 -                            
Developer contributions (4,263,315)            (12,818,302)          
Tangible Capital Assets tansferred to senior governments -                            488,499                 
(Gain) Loss on sale of tangible capital assets (2,520,342)            967,290                 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 1,534,509              6,110,243              
Loans receivable 187,409                 258,861                 
Inventories (136,561)               (8,543)                   
Prepaid expenses 325,529                 (49,168)                 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,025,276              (3,917,516)            
Development cost charges 192,726                 1,563,644              
Unearned revenue (362,399)               551,217                 
Refundable deposits 270,912                 (131,810)               

31,845,227 26,595,213
Capital Activities:

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 4,855,410              731,675                 
Acquisition of property under development (201,060)               (2,249,300)            
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (18,307,831)          (14,422,518)          

(13,653,481)          (15,940,143)          
Investing Activities:

Portfolio investments (16,201,684)          (12,436,111)          
(16,201,684)          (12,436,111)          

Financing Activities:
Decrease in capital partnership obligation (681,685)               (643,525)               
Repayment of demand loans (1,800,000)            -                            

(2,481,685)            (643,525)               

Increase (decrease) in cash (491,623)               (2,424,566)            

Cash, beginning of year 22,555,522 24,980,088

Cash, end of year $ 22,063,899 $ 22,555,522

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

General:

The Municipality was reincorporated as a City in 1999 by way of Letters Patent under the Municipal Act, now the Local Government Act, a statute of 
the Province of British Columbia.  Its principal activities include the provision of local government services to the residents of the incorporated
area.  These services include administrative, protective, transportation, recreational, water, sewer and fiscal services.

1     Significant accounting policies:

(a) Basis of presentation:

It is the City's policy to follow accounting principles generally accepted for British Columbia local governments and to apply
such principles consistently. These consolidated financial statements include the operations of the General, Water, Sewer and
Reserve Funds and the City's wholly owned subsidiaries, Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation and Tourism Chilliwack Inc. 
These consolidated statements have been prepared using standards issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants. All material interfund and intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

(b) Portfolio investments:

Portfolio investments are carried at amortized cost. If it is determined that there is a permanent impairment in the value of an investment,
it is written down to net realizable value.

(c) Property under development:

Property under development is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value and includes direct costs attributable to the project
and capitalized interest. The properties are tangible capital assets under development. 

(d) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded on the basis of cost less accumulated amortization. Cost includes amounts that are directly attributable to
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost is amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

Asset Useful Life - Years

Land n/a
Land Improvements 0-40
Buildings 40-50
Equipment 4-20
Vehicles 7-25
Engineering Structures 10-100

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive
use. Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.
Works of art and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these financial statements.

(e) Inventories:

Inventories of supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, on a weighted average basis.

(f) Revenue recognition:

Revenues from municipal taxation, grants in lieu of taxes and utility charges are recognized when the levies are billed or billable to the
property owner. Revenue from sales of services is recognized when the services are provided. Government grants are recognized 
when they are approved by senior governments and the conditions required to earn the grants have been completed. Development
cost charges are recognized as revenue in the period the funds are expended on a development project.  Development cost 
charges not expended are recorded as unearned revenue.
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

(g) Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include assumptions used in estimating provisions for accrued liabilities, landfill
liability, employee future benefits, and the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets.

Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

2     Portfolio Investments:

The City has restrictions on the portfolio investments and cash available for operational use as follows:

2012 2011

Cash 22,063,899$          22,555,522$          
Portfolio Investments 70,416,021            54,214,337            

92,479,920            76,769,859            
Less restricted for:
    Statutory Reserve Funds 8,192,005              6,722,674              
    Restricted Revenue 22,032,730            21,600,075            

30,224,735            28,322,749            

Funds available for operational use 62,255,185$          48,447,110$          

The investment portfolio includes bonds of chartered banks, the Government of Canada and provincial governments; deposits and notes of 
chartered banks, credit unions, the Government of Canada and provincial governments; and deposits in the Municipal Finance Authority
short term investment pools. 

3     Accounts receivable:

2012 2011

Taxes 6,905,325$            7,468,626$            
Province of British Columbia 243,104                 459,881                 
Government of Canada 533,914                 383,962                 
Regional and local governments 93,781                   103,676                 
Trade receivables 2,518,361              3,957,271              
Accrued interest 806,695                 623,018                 
Tax sale properties subject to redemption 416,943                 47,663                   
Water trade receivables 2,170,014              1,991,593              
Sewer trade receivables 4,739,376              4,686,403              
Development cost charges 1,843,734              2,083,663              

20,271,247$          21,805,756$          
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

4     Loan receivable

Loan granted by Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation is receivable in quarterly installments of $54,506 including interest at 5.00% and is
secured by real property.

5     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

2012 2011

Trade payables 8,221,030$            7,610,935$            
Province of British Columbia 1,318,386              1,197,109              
Government of Canada 4,171,913              4,094,356              
Regional and local governments 744,707                 306,360                 
Landfill closure and post-closure costs 2,782,000              3,004,000              

 17,238,036$          16,212,760$          

Landfill closure and post-closure costs:

The City has responsibility for closure and post-closure care of the Bailey Landfill site. Potential costs related to closure activities at this site 
include drainage control, leachate monitoring, gas monitoring and recovery, and final ground cover. The landfill site is expected to require post-
closure care for twenty-five years after its estimated closure in 2071. The liability amount of $2,782,000 (2011 - $3,004,000) has been 
recorded by multiplying the estimated net present value of total remaining costs related to closure and post-closure care ($10,004,000) by
the cumulative capacity used (28%) and is reduced as landfill restoration costs are incurred. There are no assets designated for settling
the closure and post-closure care liability.

In addition, the City has appropriated a portion of financial equity as a landfill reserve. The balance of $6,800,712 (2011 - $5,558,250) is
appropriated for other landfill related costs and unforeseen closure and post-closure costs.

6     Development Cost Charges:

The development cost charge liability represents funds received from developers for capital infrastructure expenditures required as a result of their 
development projects. As these funds are expended, the liability will be reduced and the amount expended will be recorded as revenue.

Developers are entitled to pay development cost charges (DCCs) in equal installments over three years if the total amount payable is equal to or
greater than $50,000. Installments due for the next two years are recorded as accounts receivable and are guaranteed by the developer by
providing an irrevocable letter of credit payable to the City of Chilliwack for the remaining amount of DCCs owing. As at December 31, 2012, the
amount of the DCCs due over the next two years is $1,843,734 (2011 - $2,083,663).

Assets are not physically segregated to meet the requirements of the restricted revenues. The liability is amortized to revenue as the related
expenditures are incurred.
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

7     Unearned revenue:

Included in Unearned revenue are unspent Federal Gas Tax Agreement Funds as follows: 

2012 2011
Opening balance 1,715,581$              1,399,993$            
Received during the year 1,910,171                1,910,279              
Interest Earned 35,537                     42,472                   
Spent during the year (2,734,103)              (1,637,163)             
Closing balance 927,186$                 1,715,581$            

Gas Tax funding is provided by the Government of Canada. The use of the funding is established by a funding agreement between the
Municipality and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities. Gas Tax funding may be used towards designated public transit, community energy,
water, wastewater, solid waste and capacity building projects, as specified in the funding agreement. 

8     Capital partnership obligation:

In 2004, the City of Chilliwack entered into a 25 year agreement with the Chilliwack Chiefs Development Group Ltd. (CDG) for the provision of
community priority time in the Prospera Centre. As part of the agreement, the City pays $400,000 annually to CDG for the operation of the facility
and $175,000 as a reimbursement for revenues collected directly by the City.  In addition, the City is required to make annual capital payments
of $1.2 million which is applied towards CDG's term loan associated with the facility, until CDG's loan is fully repaid.  CDG's term debt has an
 all-in rate fixed at 5.93%. At the end of the term of the agreement, the City obtains legal ownership of the facility. 

The City's capital partnership obligations under this agreement are as follows:

2013 1,200,000$            
2014 1,200,000              
2015 1,200,000              
2016 1,200,000              
2017 1,200,000              
Thereafter 4,768,998              

10,768,998            
Less amounts representing interest at 5.93% (2,710,138)             

8,058,860$            

9     Property under development:

The property under development relates to projects of Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation as follows: 

2012 2011

Canada Education Park 4,977,176$            5,008,374$            
Downtown Redevelopment 2,363,585              2,443,891              

 7,340,761$            7,452,265$            

Included in property under development is $379,525 (2011 - $349,002) in capitalized interest.
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

10   Tangible capital assets:

2012
Opening Change - Under Closing

Cost Additions Disposals Construction Cost
  

General
Land 115,439,750$         2,654,546$              -$                           -$                           118,094,296$        
Buildings 104,575,042           634,203                   -                             -                             105,209,245          
Equipment 26,616,482             1,911,796                (823,909)                -                             27,704,369            
Engineering Structures 280,656,098           6,383,134                (108,534)                -                             286,930,698          
Under Construction 987,710                  -                              -                             2,065,329              3,053,039              

528,275,082           11,583,679              (932,443)                2,065,329              540,991,647          
Water

Land 1,787,384               238,944                   -                             -                             2,026,328              
Buildings 256,694                  -                              -                             -                             256,694                 
Equipment 1,338,475               38,744                     (140,927)                -                             1,236,292              
Engineering Structures 170,659,949           2,085,052                -                             -                             172,745,001          
Under Construction 11,215                    -                              -                             69,544                   80,759                   

174,053,717           2,362,740                (140,927)                69,544                   176,345,074          
Sewer

Land 1,643,155               -                              -                             -                             1,643,155              
Equipment 1,806,428               169,165                   (94,695)                  -                             1,880,898              
Engineering Structures 215,996,895           8,849,080                -                             -                             224,845,975          
Under Construction 2,808,452               -                              -                             (2,794,335)             14,117                   

222,254,930           9,018,245                (94,695)                  (2,794,335)             228,384,145          
CEPCO

Land 517,478                  -                              (175,544)                -                             341,934                 
Buildings 5,331,027               17,977                     (2,014,223)             -                             3,334,781              
Equipment 270,707                  13,890                     -                             -                             284,597                 

6,119,212               31,867                     (2,189,767)             -                             3,961,312              
Tourism Chilliwack

Goodwill 6,120                      -                              -                             -                             6,120                     
Buildings 110,384                  1,499                       -                             -                             111,883                 
Equipment 86,605                    28,680                     -                             -                             115,285                 

203,109                  30,179                     -                             -                             233,288                 

930,906,050$         23,026,710$            (3,357,832)$           (659,462)$              949,915,466$        
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

10   Tangible capital assets (continued):

Opening 2012  Ending NBV NBV
Accum. Amort. Amortization Disposals Accum. Amort 2012 2011

  
General

Land -$                           -$                            -$                           -$                           118,094,296$        115,439,750$        
Buildings 23,750,957             3,423,144                -                             27,174,101            78,035,144            80,824,085            
Equipment 14,062,748             1,491,346                (687,337)                14,866,757            12,837,612            12,553,734            
Engineering Structures 111,152,965           5,801,743                (107,812)                116,846,896          170,083,802          169,503,133          
Under Construction -                             -                              -                             -                             3,053,039              987,710                 

148,966,670           10,716,233              (795,149)                158,887,754          382,103,893          379,308,412          
Water

Land -                             -                              -                             -                             2,026,328              1,787,384              
Buildings 19,252                    12,835                     -                             32,087                   224,607                 237,442                 
Equipment 769,442                  73,513                     (104,036)                738,919                 497,373                 569,033                 
Engineering Structures 45,286,081             2,679,215                -                             47,965,296            124,779,705          125,373,868          
Under Construction -                             -                              -                             -                             80,759                   11,215                   

46,074,775             2,765,563                (104,036)                48,736,302            127,608,772          127,978,942          
Sewer

Land -                             -                              -                             -                             1,643,155              1,643,155              
Equipment 720,810                  102,886                   (67,546)                  756,150                 1,124,748              1,085,618              
Engineering Structures 62,197,382             3,894,297                -                             66,091,679            158,754,296          153,799,513          
Under Construction -                             -                              -                             -                             14,117                   2,808,452              

62,918,192             3,997,183                (67,546)                  66,847,829            161,536,316          159,336,738          
CEPCO

Land -                             -                              -                             -                             341,934                 517,478                 
Buildings 1,071,107               153,200                   (368,595)                855,712                 2,479,069              4,259,920              
Equipment 247,059                  8,760                       -                             255,819                 28,778                   23,648                   

1,318,166               161,960                   (368,595)                1,111,531              2,849,781              4,801,046              
Tourism Chilliwack

Goodwill -                             -                              -                             -                             6,120                     6,120                     
Buildings 81,679                    8,461                       -                             90,140                   21,743                   28,705                   
Equipment 71,407                    15,392                     -                             86,799                   28,486                   15,198                   

153,086                  23,853                     -                             176,939                 56,349                   50,023                   

259,430,889$         17,664,792$            (1,335,326)$           275,760,355$        674,155,111$        671,475,161$        
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

11   Accumulated Surplus:

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus, statutory reserves and surplus invested in tangible capital assets as follows:

2012 2011
Operating Funds

Unrestricted: 
General 11,641,742$          7,125,003$            
CEPCO 2,258,786              (226,265)                
Tourism 379,489                 309,152                 
Water Fund 2,350,000              2,300,000              
Sewer Fund 2,210,000              2,140,000              

Building - Protective Services 910,922                 910,922                 
Landfill 5,922,712              5,558,250              
Sewer future works 10,972,631            9,925,313              
Water future works 8,176,534              7,461,374              
Work-in-progress 2,865,000              1,749,000              
Soil Removal 217,508                 248,987                 
Other 2,430,730              1,630,990              

50,336,054            39,132,726            
Statutory Reserve Funds

General Capital 4,742,917              4,103,531              
Equipment Replacement 2,834,281              1,888,856              
Subdivision Control 614,807                 730,287                 

8,192,005              6,722,674              
Investment in Tangible Capital Assets & Property Under Development

General 374,045,032          370,567,867          
Water 127,608,773          127,978,941          
Sewer 161,536,316          159,336,739          
CEPCO 10,190,542            10,453,310            
Tourism 56,350                   50,024                   

673,437,013          668,386,881          

731,965,072$        714,242,281$        

12   Collections for other governments:

The City collects and remits taxes on behalf of other government jurisdictions as follows:

2012 2011
B.C. Assessment Authority 836,009$               856,585$               
Fraser Valley Regional Hospital District 3,010,417              3,053,169              
Municipal Finance Authority 2,574                     2,565                     
Ministry of Education 32,020,016            31,753,043            
Fraser Valley Regional District 1,711,250              1,462,027              

37,580,266$          37,127,389$          
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

13   Contingent liabilities:

(a) The City, as a member of the Fraser Valley Regional District, is responsible for its proportion of any operating deficits or long term
debt related to functions in which it participates.

(b) The City is currently engaged in certain legal actions. Of the claims the City is defending, certain claims are covered by the City's 
insurers and/or other parties.  The City has accrued for claims for which the amounts are known or can be reasonably estimated. The 
outcome of other claims is undeterminable at this time, accordingly, no provision has been made in the accounts for these actions.

(c) The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly trusteed pension plan. The Board of 
Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the management of the Plan, including investment of 
the assets and administration of benefits. The pension plan is a multi-employer contributory pension plan. Basic pension benefits are provided
based on a formula. The plan has about 176,000 active members and approximately 67,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 35,000 contributors from local governments. 

The most recent valuation as at December 31, 2009 indicated a $1,024 million funding deficit for basic pension benefits.  The next valuation will 
be as at December 31, 2012 with results available in 2013.  Defined contribution plan accounting is applied to the Plan as the Plan exposes the
participating entities to actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees of other entities, with the result that there is no consistent
and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, Plan assets and cost to individual entities participating in the Plan. 

The City of Chilliwack paid $1,795,139 for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2012.

(d) The City has received certain capital grants that are repayable in the event the capital project that the grant was used for is sold, leased,
encumbered or otherwise disposed of. Total contingently repayable grants are $10,056,676 (2011 - $7,322,573), however the City does not
anticipate selling, leasing, encumbering or otherwise disposing of the capital projects and accordingly does not anticipate repaying any
of these grants.

14   Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities:

The fair value of the City's cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying amounts due
to the immediate or short term maturity of these financial instruments.

The fair value of portfolio investments at December 31, 2012 was $71,430,222 (2011 - $54,999,147). Included in the fair market estimate is accrued
interest of $780,600 (2011 - $600,890), which is recorded within accounts receivable.

The fair value of the loans receivable approximate their book values as the interest rates represent lending rates presently charged by
 the City for similar investments.

The fair value of the demand loans and capital partnership obligation approximate their book values as the interest rates represent
borrowing rates for loans under similar terms and maturities.

15   Commitments:

The City is committed to the acquisition of 6 properties with purchase prices totaling approximately $2,946,000. 
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City of Chilliwack
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2012

16   Segmented Information:

The City is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of services to its citizens, including Protective Services;
Transportation Services; Landfill Operations; Water and Sewer Services; Recreation and Cultural Services, and Environmental Development
Services.  For management reporting purposes the Government’s operations and activities are organized and reported by Service Areas.  Service
Areas were created for the purpose of recording specific activities to attain certain objectives in accordance with regulations, restrictions or limitations.

General Government Services
General government services include all activities associated with adopting bylaws, mayor and council support, financial management,
municipal facilities, and the cost effective delivery of services. Items includes are Mayor and Council, administration, clerks, purchasing,
management information systems, graphical information systems, corporate services, finance, municipal facilities, museum, and community
grants.

Protective Services
Protective services includes all activities associated with protection including the enforcement of laws and the prevention of crime. Items
included are fire protection, bylaw enforcement, emergency services, building inspection, and all costs associated with policing.

Transportation Services
Transportation services include all activities associated with transportation including roads and drainage networks. Items included are
services of the engineering department, traffic services, street lighting, transit, winter, maintenance and enhancements to roads, shoulders,
open drainage, storm sewers, and dykes.

Landfill Operations
Landfill operations include all activities associated with solid waste and environmental health. Items included are landfill operations,
special waste programs, clean up campaigns, operation of the Green Depot, and the curbside collection and recycling program.

Water and Sewer Services
Water and sewer services include all activities associated with water and sanitary sewer operations. Items included are maintenance
and enhancements of the water supply system, water pumps stations, water distribution system, water meters, hydrants, sanitary
sewer collection system, sewer lift stations, and sewer treatment and disposal.

Recreation and Cultural Services
Recreation and cultural services include all activities associated with parks, recreation and cultural activities and operations.
Items includes are costs associated with Evergreen Hall, Landing Sports Centre, Rotary Pool, Cheam Centre, Leisure Centre, Prospera
Centre, Heritage Park, Great Blue Heron Nature Reserve, Grandstands, Cultural Centre, community grants, parks and trails, urban 
trees and plantings, sports fields, and libraries.

Environmental Development Services
Environmental development services include all activities associated with community planning and economic development.
Items included are costs associated with community planning, development, economic development and tourism.

The following table outlines the City's revenues and expenditures by operating segment:
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KPMG LLP Telephone (604) 793-4700
Chartered Accountants Fax (604) 793-4747
200-9123 Mary Street Internet www.kpmg.ca
Chilliwack BC V2P 4H7
Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation

We have audited the accompanying  financial statements of Chilliwack Economic Partners
Corporation which comprise the  statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012, the
statement of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets (debt)  and cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these  financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of  financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these  financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the  financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the  financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the  financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the  financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the  financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation as at December 31, 2012 and the results of its operations,
its changes in net financial assets (debt) and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chartered Accountants

March 4, 2013
Chilliwack, British Columbia
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
 Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2012 with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2011

Financial assets:
Cash $ 366,444 $ 109,877
Accounts receivable 191,945 132,092
Short-term investments 1,500,000 -
Loans receivable (Note 2) 509,594 697,003

2,567,983 938,972

Financial liabilities:
Bank indebtedness (Note 3) - 895,394
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  283,377 105,001
Demand loans - 1,800,000
Unearned revenue 43,724 196,288

327,101 2,996,683

Net financial assets (debt) 2,240,882 (2,057,711)

Non-financial assets:
Prepaid expenses 17,904 31,446
Property under development (Note 4) 7,340,761 7,452,265
Tangible capital assets (Note 5) 2,849,781 4,801,045

10,208,446 12,284,756

Accumulated surplus (Note 6) $ 12,449,328 $ 10,227,045

Commitments (Note 11)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

     Director

     Director

1
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
 Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2012 2011
Budget Actual Actual

(Unaudited)

Revenues:
Property sales $ - $ 4,725,363 $ -
Rent 867,000 851,530 1,001,664
Economic development (Note 8) 575,000 575,000 625,000
Property development - 101,209 73,803
Interest 30,400 29,839 46,363
Cost recovery and other receipts - 11,536 8,495
Government programs 12,000 7,719 5,000
Agricultural programs - 3,000 2,525

1,484,400 6,305,196 1,762,850

Expenses:
Cost of property sales - 1,929,835 -
Wages and benefits 518,600 520,106 441,107
Provision for impairment of property - 203,900 -
Amortization of tangible capital assets 200,000 161,960 208,206
Utilities 20,000 150,766 186,849
Rent 105,700 94,455 113,799
Downtown redevelopment - 78,615 -
Repairs and maintenance 45,000 73,185 43,067
Cost of property development - 51,043 60,973
Insurance 68,000 50,146 46,381
Marketing 96,700 37,384 108,624
Special economic projects 43,000 29,953 45,307
Consulting fees 20,000 26,812 13,471
Office and miscellaneous 43,000 24,583 23,024
Travel 18,000 16,241 15,609
Professional fees 17,500 13,798 23,052
Bad Debts - 11,535 -
Agricultural commission 14,000 7,318 10,210
Interest and bank charges 2,000 1,278 1,521

1,211,500 3,482,913 1,341,200

Annual surplus before distribution 272,900 2,822,283 421,650

Distribution to City of Chilliwack (Note 8) - (600,000) -

Annual surplus 272,900 2,222,283 421,650

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 10,227,045 10,227,045 9,805,395

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 10,499,945 $ 12,449,328 $ 10,227,045

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
 Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets (Debt)

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2012 2011
Budget Actual Actual

(Unaudited)

Annual surplus $ 272,900 $ 2,222,283 $ 421,650

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (3,000) (31,867) (126,443)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 200,000 161,960 208,206
Gain on sale of property - (2,795,528) -
Proceeds on sale of property - 4,725,363 -
Increase in property under development (80,000) (201,060) (2,249,300)
Impairment of property - 203,900 -
Change in prepaid expenses - 13,542 2,548

117,000 2,076,310 (2,164,989)

Change in net financial assets (debt) 389,900 4,298,593 (1,743,339)

Net debt, beginning of year (2,057,711) (2,057,711) (314,372)

Net financial assets (debt), end of year $ (1,667,811) $ 2,240,882 $ (2,057,711)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

3
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
 Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2011

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities:
Annual surplus $ 2,222,283 $ 421,650
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 161,960 208,206
Gain on sale of property (2,795,528) -
Provision for impairment of property 203,900 -

(207,385) 629,856

Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Accounts receivable (59,853) 1,379,474
Prepaid expenses 13,542 2,548
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 178,376 (2,335,318)
Unearned revenue (152,564) (28,953)

(227,884) (352,393)

Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (31,867) (126,443)
Increase in property under development (201,060) (2,249,300)
Proceeds on sale of property 4,725,363 -

4,492,436 (2,375,743)

Investing activities:
Repayments of loans receivable 187,409 258,861
Investment in short-term investment (1,500,000) -

(1,312,591) 258,861

Financing activities:
Change in bank indebtedness (895,394) 895,394
Repayment of demand loans (1,800,000) -

(2,695,394) 895,394

Increase (decrease) in cash 256,567 (1,573,881)

Cash, beginning of year 109,877 1,683,758

Cash, end of year $ 366,444 $ 109,877

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2012

General:

Chilliwack Economic Partners Corporation (the "Corporation") is wholly owned by the City of
Chilliwack (the "City") and is responsible for economic development activity within the City's
boundaries.

1. Significant accounting policies:

These financial statements are prepared using guidelines issued by the Public Sector Accounting
Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The Corporation's significant
accounting policies are as follows:

(a) Property under development or held for sale:

Property under development or held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost and net
realizable value and includes direct costs and capitalized interest.  Buildings in use but held
for sale are amortized at 4% per annum.

(b) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost.  Website costs include hardware and software
costs, graphics designs and major enhancements.  Website maintenance and ancillary costs
are expensed.  Amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates:

Asset Basis Useful life - years

Buildings Declining balance 4%
Computer and office equipment Declining balance 20% - 30%
Telecommunication equipment Declining balance 20%

Leasehold improvements are amortized on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease
plus one renewal period if it is anticipated that the lease will be renewed.

Website costs are amortized on the straight-line basis over three years.
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
Notes to  Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(c) Revenue recognition:

Revenues are recognized on the accrual basis according to the terms of the contractual
agreements.

(d) Short-term investments:

Short-term investments are recorded at cost.

(e) Budget figures:

Budget figures are approved by the Board of Directors and are not audited.

(f) Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the year.  Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

2. Loan receivable:

Amount is receivable in quarterly instalments of $54,506 including interest at 5.00% and is
secured by real property.

3. Bank indebtedness:

The Corporation has an operating line of credit for a maximum of $3,000,000 (2011 - $3,000,000)
that is due on demand, bears interest at prime plus 0.35% and is secured by a general security
agreement.
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
Notes to  Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

4. Property under development or held for sale:

2012 2011

Canada Education Park:
Land $ 1,579,469 $ 1,579,469
Roads, water, and sewer 2,548,769 2,581,392
Buildings 525,278 525,628
Other improvements 323,660 321,885

4,977,176 5,008,374

Downtown Redevelopment:
Land 2,567,485 2,443,891

Less provision for impairment (203,900) -
2,363,585 2,443,891

$ 7,340,761 $ 7,452,265

Included in property under development is $379,525 (2011 - $349,002) in capitalized interest.
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
Notes to  Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

5. Tangible capital assets:

2012 2012
Opening Closing

Cost Additions Disposals Cost

Buildings $ 4,574,278 $ 17,977 $ 2,014,223 $ 2,578,032
Leasehold improvements 756,749 - - 756,749
Computer and office equipment 170,829 13,890 - 184,719
Website 76,587 - - 76,587
Telecommunication equipment 23,291 - - 23,291
Land 517,478 - 175,544 341,934

$ 6,119,212 $ 31,867 $ 2,189,767 $ 3,961,312

2012 Opening 2012 Closing
Accumulated Amortization Accumulated
Amortization Disposals Expense Amortization

Buildings $ 792,786 $ 368,596 $ 106,400 $ 530,590
Leasehold improvements 278,321 - 46,800 325,121
Computer and office equipment 149,936 - 8,076 158,012
Website 76,587 - - 76,587
Telecommunication equipment 20,537 - 684 21,221

$ 1,318,167 $ 368,596 $ 161,960 $ 1,111,531

2012 Opening 2012 Closing
Net Book Value Net Book Value

Buildings $ 3,781,492 $ 2,047,442
Leasehold improvements 478,428 431,628
Computer and office equipment 20,893 26,707
Website - -
Telecommunication equipment 2,754 2,070
Land 517,478 341,934

$ 4,801,045 $ 2,849,781

8

CEpCo fiNaNCial StatEmENtS 69www.ChilliwaCk.Com



CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
Notes to  Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

6. Accumulated surplus:

2012 2011

Share capital (Note 7) $ 100 $ 100
Equity in tangible capital assets 10,190,542 10,453,310
Unrestricted equity (deficit) 2,258,686 (226,365)

$ 12,449,328 $ 10,227,045

7. Share capital:

2012 2011
Issued and authorized with no par value:

100 Common shares $ 100 $ 100

8. Related party transactions and economic dependence:

During the year, the City of Chilliwack (the "City") provided $550,000 (2011 - $550,000) in
revenue for economic development purposes.

During the year, the City provided $25,000 (2011 - $75,000) in additional revenue to offset rent
costs.

Included in accounts payable is $20,006 (2011 - $nil) that is due to the City.

No property taxes were paid on any land owned by the Corporation as it is exempt as a result of
the indirect land ownership by the City.

A member of the Corporation's Board is a partner in a legal firm to which the Corporation paid
$15,086 (2011 - $7,086) in legal fees during the year.

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the parties.

During the year the Corporation distributed $600,000 to the city.

The Corporation is wholly-owned by the City.
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
Notes to  Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

9. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities:

For certain of the Corporation's financial instruments, including cash, short-term investments,
accounts receivable, loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and unearned
revenue, the carrying amounts approximate their fair values due to the immediate or short-term
maturity of these financial instruments.

10. Income taxes:

The Corporation is exempt from income taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act, Canada.

11. Commitments:

i) The Corporation has committed to lease premises until April 2014 for minimum annual lease
payments of $57,045.

ii) The Corporation has committed to fund $900,000 to the University of the Fraser Valley for
costs related to the renovation of the downtown building and the construction of the agricultural
building.

12. Segmented information:

The Corporation is a diversified other government organization that provides a wide range of
services, including:

Property sales

Property sales includes the proceeds and costs related to the development and sales of
commercial industrial or institutional buildings and lots in Chilliwack.

Rent

Rent includes all activities associated with the rental of buildings and land owned by the
Corporation.

Economic development

Economic development includes all activities associated with the economic development
activity in Chilliwack.

The following table outlines the Corporation's revenues and expenditures by operating segments:
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CHILLIWACK ECONOMIC PARTNERS CORPORATION
 Notes to financial statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

13. Segmented information (continued):

Property Economic
Sales Rent Development 2012 2011 

Revenues:
Property sales $ 4,725,363 $ - $ - $ 4,725,363 $ -
Rent - 851,530 - 851,530 1,001,664
Economic development - - 575,000 575,000 625,000
Property development 101,209 - - 101,209 73,803
Interest 29,839 - - 29,839 46,363
Other - - 22,255 22,255 16,020

4,856,411 851,530 597,255 6,305,196 1,762,850

Expenditures:
Cost of property sales 1,929,835 - - 1,929,835 -
Wages and benefits 46,810 104,021 369,275 520,106 441,107
Impairment of property 203,900 - - 203,900 -
Insurance and utilities - 200,912 - 200,912 233,230
Amortization - 153,200 8,760 161,960 208,206
Other 22,157 33,692 45,716 101,565 86,887
Rent 8,501 18,891 67,063 94,455 113,799
Downtown redevelopment - - 78,615 78,615 -
Repairs and maintenance - 73,185 - 73,185 43,067
Cost of property development 51,043 - - 51,043 60,973
Marketing - - 37,384 37,384 108,624
Special economic projects - - 29,953 29,953 45,307

2,262,246 583,901 636,766 3,482,913 1,341,200

$ 2,594,165 $ 267,629 $ (39,511) $ 2,822,283 $ 421,650
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for the year ended December 31, 2012

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.



KPMG LLP Telephone (604) 793-4700
Chartered Accountants Fax (604) 793-4747
200-9123 Mary Street Internet www.kpmg.ca
Chilliwack BC V2P 4H7
Canada

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholder of Tourism Chilliwack Inc.

We have audited the accompanying  financial statements of Tourism Chilliwack Inc. which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012, the statement of operations and accumulated
surplus,  change in net financial assets  and cash flows for the year then ended and notes comprising a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these  financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of  financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these  financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the  financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the  financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the  financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the  financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the  financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Tourism Chilliwack Inc. as at December 31, 2012 and the results of its operations, its changes in net
financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Chartered Accountants

March 1, 2013
Chilliwack, British Columbia

KPMG LLP, is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
 Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2012, which comparative figures for 2011 

2012 2011

Financial assets:
Cash $ 302,428 $ 135,602
Accounts receivable 40,195 21,214
Long-term investments (Note 2) 191,234 188,172

533,857 344,988

Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  50,589 26,520
Due to City of Chilliwack (Note 11) 125,643 -
Deferred revenue 12,775 34,838

189,007 61,358

Net financial assets 344,850 283,630

Non-financial assets:
Inventories (Note 3) 11,743 12,078
Prepaid expenses and deposits 22,897 13,445
Tangible capital assets (Note 4) 50,230 43,904
Goodwill 6,120 6,120

90,990 75,547

Accumulated surplus $ 435,840 $ 359,177

Represented by:
Share capital (Note 5) $ 1 $ 1
Unrestricted equity 385,609 315,272
Equity in tangible capital assets 50,230 43,904

$ 435,840 $ 359,177

Commitment (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

     Director

     Director
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
 Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2012 2011
Budget Actual Actual

(Unaudited)

Revenues:
Sales, rental and other income $ 447,350 $ 513,943 $ 89,203
Operating agreements 467,189 467,111 160,200
Hotel tax 142,000 148,839 143,023
Advertising revenues 142,806 140,003 131,370
Fundraising revenues 5,200 5,591 4,570
Interest income 5,000 5,538 8,307

1,209,545 1,281,025 536,673

Expenditures:
Staffing costs 537,510 527,917 231,990
Advertising and business development 251,350 204,403 149,146
Operations 148,200 156,318 47,375
Utilities 107,750 83,789 4,324
Administration 110,682 82,437 65,472
Amortization of tangible capital assets 27,061 23,855 20,907

1,182,553 1,078,719 519,214

Annual surplus before distribution 26,992 202,306 17,459

Distribution to City of Chilliwack (Note 11) - (125,643) -

Annual surplus 26,992 76,663 17,459

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 359,177 359,177 341,718

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 386,169 $ 435,840 $ 359,177

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
 Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2012 2011
Budget Actual Actual 

(Unaudited)

Annual surplus $ 26,992 $ 76,663 $ 17,459

Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (30,181) (7,394)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 27,061 23,855 20,907

27,061 (6,326) 13,513

Change in inventories - 335 4,854
Change in prepaid expenses and deposits - (9,452) 1,717

- (9,117) 6,571

Change in net financial assets 54,053 61,220 37,543

Net financial assets, beginning of year 283,630 283,630 246,087

Net financial assets, end of year $ 337,683 $ 344,850 $ 283,630

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
 Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

2012 2011

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities:
Annual surplus $ 76,663 $ 17,459
Item not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 23,855 20,907
100,518 38,366

Change in non-cash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (18,981) 6,268
Inventories 335 4,854
Prepaid expenses and deposits (9,452) 1,717
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 24,069 (438)
Due to City of Chilliwack 125,643 -
Deferred revenue (22,063) (26,391)

200,069 24,376

Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (30,181) (7,394)

Investing activities:
 Change in long-term investments (3,062) (188,172)

Increase (decrease) in cash 166,826 (171,190)

Cash, beginning of year 135,602 306,792

Cash, end of year $ 302,428 $ 135,602

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to  Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2012

General:

Tourism Chilliwack Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated on December 16, 2006 and began
operations on January 1, 2007.  The Company is wholly-owned by the City of Chilliwack.  The
mandate of the Company is to develop and promote the tourism industry as well as provide
economic development programs and services aimed at growing the tourism industry in the City
of Chilliwack.

1. Significant accounting policies:

These financial statements are prepared using standards issued by the Public Sector Accounting
Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.  The Company's significant accounting
policies are as follows:

(a) Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value by using first-in, first-
out costing methodology. The Company uses the same cost formula for all the inventories
having a similar nature and use to the entity. When circumstances which previously caused
inventories to be written down no longer exist the previous impairment is reversed.

(b) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
provided using the following methods and annual rates:

Asset Basis Useful life - years

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 30%
Computer Declining balance 30%
Leasehold improvements Declining balance 30%
Website Declining balance 45%

(c) Revenue recognition:

Grant revenues are recognized when the grants have been approved and the conditions
required to earn the grants have been completed.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recorded at time of sale.

Advertising commission revenue is recognized when the related advertisement or
commercial appears before the public.

5

toURiSm ChilliwaCk iNC. fiNaNCial StatEmENtS80 City of ChilliwaCk | 2012 annual municipal report



TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to   Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(d) Long-term investments:

Long-term investments are recorded at amortized cost plus accrued interest.  If it is
determined that there is a permanent impairment in the value of an investment, it is written
down to net realizable value.

(e) Goodwill:

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired
business exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities
assumed, based on their fair values. Goodwill is allocated, at the date of the business
combination, to the Company’s reporting units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination.

Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired.  The impairment test
is carried out in two steps.  In the first step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit is
compared with its fair value.  When the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying
amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not to be impaired and the second step
of the impairment test is unnecessary.  The second step is carried out when the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which case the implied fair value of the
reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the
impairment loss, if any.  The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner
as the value of goodwill is determined in a business combination described in the preceding
paragraph, using the fair value of the reporting unit as if it was the purchase price.  When the
carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess and is presented as a
separate line item in the statement of earnings before extraordinary items and discontinued
operations.

(f) Budget figures:

Budget figures represent the budget approval by board of directors and are not subject to
audit.

6

toURiSm ChilliwaCk iNC. fiNaNCial StatEmENtS 81www.ChilliwaCk.Com



TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to   Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(g) Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the year.  Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

2. Long-term investments:

2012 2011

Term deposit with interest at 2.75%, maturing on
June 29, 2013 $ 106,185 $ 104,484

Term deposit with interest at 2.75%, maturing on
June 30, 2013 85,049 83,688

$ 191,234 $ 188,172

3. Inventories:

2012 2011

Flag shop inventory $ 8,956 $ 9,436
Maps and books 2,787 2,642

$ 11,743 $ 12,078
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to   Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

4. Tangible capital assets:

2012 2012
Opening Closing

Cost Additions Disposals Cost

Furniture and fixtures $ 21,255 $ 15,956 $ - $ 37,211
Website 44,044 5,500 - 49,544
Computer 21,305 7,225 - 28,530
Leasehold improvements 110,384 1,500 - 111,884

$ 196,988 $ 30,181 $ - $ 227,169

2012 Opening 2012 Closing
Accumulated Amortization Accumulated
Amortization Disposals expense Amortization

Furniture and fixtures $ 15,623 $ - $ 6,476 $ 22,099
Website 38,673 - 4,892 43,565
Computer 15,119 - 4,024 19,143
Leasehold improvements 83,669 - 8,463 92,132

$ 153,084 $ - $ 23,855 $ 176,939

2012 Opening 2012 Closing
Net book value Net book value

Furniture and fixtures $ 5,632 $ 15,112
Website 5,371 5,979
Computer 6,186 9,387
Leasehold improvements 26,715 19,752

$ 43,904 $ 50,230
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to   Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

5. Share capital:

2012 2011

Authorized:
Unlimited Common shares

Issued with no par value:
100 Common shares $ 1 $ 1

6. Related party transactions and economic dependence:

During the year, the City of Chilliwack (the "City") provided funds under operating agreements
totalling $430,000 (2011 - $130,000) to the Company.  The City has agreed to provide future
annual operating funds based on a pre-determined formula.

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the City.

7. Financial instruments:

The carrying value of cash, long-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of
these items.

8. Income taxes:

The Company is exempt from income taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act, Canada.
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to   Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

9. Employee future benefits:

The Company and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (Plan), a jointly
trusteed pension plan.  The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is
responsible for overseeing the management of the Plan, including investment of the assets and
administration of benefits.  The pension plan is a multi-employer contributory pension plan.  Basic
pension benefits provided are defined.  The plan has about 150,000 active members and
approximately 54,000 retired members.  Active members included approximately 32,000
contributors from local government.

Every three years an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the Plan
and the adequacy of the Plan funding.  The most recent valuation as at December 31, 2009
indicated an underfunded liability of $1,024 million for basic pension benefits.  The next valuation
will be as at December 31, 2012, with results available in 2013.  The actuary does not attribute
portions of the surplus to individual employers.

10. Commitment:

The Company entered into an agreement in 2011 with the City of Chilliwack which took into effect
on January 1, 2012.  The agreement outlines the management and operation of Chilliwack
Heritage Park.

As a condition of the agreement with the City, the Company issued a non-revocable Letter of
Credit in the amount of $50,000 as a guarantee for the due and faithful performance of the
agreement.

11. Distribution to City of Chilliwack:

In accordance with an agreement between the Company and the City of Chilliwack, a distribution
of funds derived from the operation of Chilliwack Heritage Park is returned to the City and put into
a building reserve fund, specifically for future use at Chilliwack Heritage Park.

12. Comparative figures:

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statement
presentation adopted for the current year.
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
Notes to   Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

13. Segmented information:

The Company is a diversified other government organization that provides a range of services,
including:

Tourism Services

Tourism Services includes all activities associated with the operation of the Chilliwack Visitor
Centre including co-ordinating and delivering tourism marketing programs aimed at
promoting Chilliwack as a tourist destination.

Retail Services

Retail Services includes all activities associated with operation of the Flag Shop including
selling various national and international flags and other souvenir items.

Facility Management

Facility Management includes all activities associated with the operation of Chilliwack
Heritage Park including renting the facility for various events.

The following table outlines the Company's revenues and expenditures by operating segments:
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TOURISM CHILLIWACK INC.
 Notes to  Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

13. Segmented information (continued):

Facility Tourism Retail
Management services services Eliminations 2012 2011

Revenues:
Sales, rental and other income $ 421,864 $ 7,498 $ 84,581 $ - $ 513,943 $ 89,203
Operating agreements 300,000 167,111 - - 467,111 160,200
Hotel tax - 148,839 - - 148,839 143,023
Advertising revenues - 240,003 - (100,000) 140,003 131,370
Fundraising revenues - 5,591 - - 5,591 4,570
Interest income 732 4,806 - - 5,538 8,307

722,596 573,848 84,581 (100,000) 1,281,025 536,673

Expenditures:
Staffing costs 269,010 234,857 24,050 - 527,917 231,990
Advertising and business development 100,000 201,093 3,310 (100,000) 204,403 149,146
Operations 110,261 7,072 38,985 - 156,318 47,375
Utilities 77,991 5,798 - - 83,789 4,324
Administration 34,442 44,875 3,120 - 82,437 65,472
Amortization 5,249 18,606 - - 23,855 20,907

596,953 512,301 69,465 (100,000) 1,078,719 519,214

Annual surplus $ 125,643 $ 61,547 $ 15,116 $ - $ 202,306 $ 17,459
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